

# University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Masters Theses

**Graduate School** 

5-2019

# STABILITY OF BOVINE MILK EXOSOMES AND THEIR EFFECT ON PROLIFERATION OF RAW 264.7 CELLS

Svjetlana Matic University of Tennessee

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_gradthes

#### **Recommended Citation**

Matic, Svjetlana, "STABILITY OF BOVINE MILK EXOSOMES AND THEIR EFFECT ON PROLIFERATION OF RAW 264.7 CELLS." Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, 2019. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_gradthes/5416

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.



To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Svjetlana Matic entitled "STABILITY OF BOVINE MILK EXOSOMES AND THEIR EFFECT ON PROLIFERATION OF RAW 264.7 CELLS." I have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, with a major in Food Science.

Vermont P. Dia, Major Professor

We have read this thesis and recommend its acceptance:

Doris H. D'Souza, Tao Wu

Accepted for the Council: Dixie L. Thompson

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)



# STABILITY OF BOVINE MILK EXOSOMES AND THEIR EFFECT ON PROLIFERATION OF RAW 264.7 CELLS

A Thesis Presented for the Master of Science Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> Svjetlana Matic May 2019



www.manaraa.com

Copyright © 2019 by Svjetlana Matic

All rights reserved.



## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dr. Vermont Dia for his assistance and advising for my research.

Dr. Doris D'Souza and Tao Wu for serving as my committee members.

My friends from the lab Andrea Nieto and Shan Hong for always being available to give

advice and help with my experiments.

Dr. Philipus Pangloli for his help with my experiments.

My family for emotional support.



## ABSTRACT

Exosomes are extracellular vesicles involved in intercellular communication. Bovine milk exosomes stability and their biological effects on macrophages have not been extensively investigated. Hence, the objectives of this study were to characterize bovine milk exosomes and investigate their effects on RAW 264.7 macrophages under normoxia and hypoxia. Bovine milk exosomes were isolated using differential centrifugation and identified by the presence of exosomal markers (ALIX, TSG101, and CD81) and particle size. The effect of *in vitro* digestion and pH on stability of milk exosomes was investigated. The biological activity of milk exosomes in RAW 264.7 under normoxia was determined by measuring proliferation, expression of proliferation markers p53, p21, cyclin D1, CDK2 and  $\beta$ -catenin, cell cycle, and the protective effect of exosomes on cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity. The effect of exosomes on RAW 264.7 under hypoxia was assessed by measuring proliferation, ROS production, cytokines, cell cycle, and the expression of hypoxia marker HIF-1 $\alpha$  and proliferation markers p53 and p21. Exosomes were positive for exosomal markers and their size was 106.8 nm ± 3.4. Exosomal marker TSG101 was detected after digestion and exposure to different pH values. The treatment of exosomes significantly increased proliferation in cells under normoxia and had a protective effect against cisplatin-induced apoptosis. Proliferation markers were significantly affected by exosome treatment under normoxia. Cell cycle analysis in normoxia showed that exosome treatment reduced the percentage of preapoptotic cells while arresting the cells in G2/M phase. Hypoxic conditions reduced the viability of cells by 27% while exosome treatment significantly increased the cell



iv

viability. Generation of ROS under hypoxia was significantly reduced in the cells treated with exosomes. Hypoxia alone did not affect TNF- $\alpha$ , but exosome treatment significantly increased TNF- $\alpha$  in a dose-dependent manner under hypoxia. Cell cycle analysis showed that hypoxia alone arrested cells in the G0/G1 phase whereas exosome treatment reduced the percentage of cells in this phase. The results demonstrated that bovine milk exosomes isolated from commercially available milk are stable and affect macrophage proliferation under normoxia and hypoxia indicating the potential role of exosomes in the immune system. Further research is needed to understand milk exosomes' role in human health.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction and literature review1
1.1 Literature review1
1.1.1 Exosomes
1.1.2 Generation and release of exosomes2
1.1.3 Function and significance of exosomes
1.1.4 Exosomes isolation3
1.1.5 Detection and identification exosomes5
1.1.6 Bovine milk exosomes5
1.1.7 Stability of milk exosomes7
1.1.8 Biological activity of bovine milk exosomes7
1.1.9 Macrophages: cells of innate immunity9
1.1.10 Cell cycle and cell proliferation11
1.1.11 Hypoxia 13
1.1.12 Macrophages and chemotherapeutic drugs 14
1.2 Hypothesis and objectives 14
References 16
Chapter 2: Bovine milk exosomes affect proliferation and protect macrophages against
cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity
2.1 Abstract



2.2 Introduction
2.3 Materials and methods
2.3.1 Materials
2.3.2 Isolation of exosomes
2.3.3 Characterization of milk exosomes
2.3.4 Effect of pH on exosomes stability
2.3.5 Pepsin-pancreatin digestion of exosomes
2.3.6 SDS-PAGE and western blot detection of TSG 101, CD 81 and ALIX 34
2.3.7 Cell culture and cell proliferation assay
2.3.8 Whole cell lysate preparation35
2.3.9 Western blot for proliferation proteins p21, p53, $\beta$ -catenin, cyclin D1 and CDK
2
2.3.10 Cell-cycle analysis by flow cytometry
2.3.11 Statistical analysis
2.4 Results and discussion
2.4.1 Characterization and identification of bovine milk exosomes from
commercially available milk
2.4.2 Bovine milk exosomes are stable against pH changes
2.4.3 Bovine milk exosomes resist pepsin-pancreatin hydrolysis



2.4.4 Bovine milk exosomes affect proliferation and have a protective effect on
cisplatin treated RAW 264.7 cells42
2.4.5 Bovine milk exosomes affect proliferation markers (proteins) in RAW 264. 7
cells
2.4.6 Milk bovine exosomes affect the cell cycle of RAW 264.7 with and without
cisplatin
2.5 Conclusion
References
Appendix54
Chapter 3: The effect of bovine milk exosomes on the proliferation of RAW 264.7 cells
under hypoxia61
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Materials and methods64
3.3.1 Materials64
3.3.2 Isolation and characterization of bovine milk exosomes and particle size
analysis
3.3.3 Cell culture and cell proliferation assay
3.3.4 Whole cell lysate preparation and supernatant collection
3.3.5 Production of ROS by flow cytometry67



3.3.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for measurement cytokine
production (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- $\alpha$ )68
3.3.7 Western blot for hypoxia marker HIF-1 $\alpha$ and proliferation proteins p21 and
p53
3.3.8 Cell-cycle analysis by flow cytometry69
3.3.9 Statistical analysis70
3.4 Results and discussion70
3.4.1 Identification of bovine milk exosomes isolated from commercially available milk using particle size
3.4.2 Bovine milk exosomes increased the proliferation of RAW 264.7 cell under
hypoxia
3.4.3 Bovine milk exosomes reduced production of ROS in RAW 264.7 cell under
hypoxic conditions72
3.4.4 Bovine milk exosomes increased TNF- $\alpha$ in RAW 264.7 under hypoxia74
3.4.5 Bovine milk exosomes did not affect the expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , p21 and p53
3.4.6 Bovine milk exosomes affect the cell cycle of RAW 264.7 cells under hypoxia
3.5 Conclusion
References77
Appendix



Chapter 4: Conclusion and future work	86
·	
Vita	88



# **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 2.1. Characterization of milk exosomes by particle size distribution and zeta
potential. Identification of milk exosomes by western blot analysis on exosomal
markers ALIX, TSG101, and CD8154
Figure 2.2. Stability of exosomes at different pH values presented as solubility of milk
exosome proteins over a range of pH values, particle size distribution with PDI,
surface zeta potential, and detection of exosomal protein TSG10155
Figure 2.3. Effect of simulated pepsin-pancreatin digestion on size, and zeta potential of
milk exosomes, the presence of exosmal proteins ALIX, TSG101 and CD81, and
the effect of pH and pepsin-pancreatin hydrolysis on the protein profile using SDS-
PAGE
Figure 2.4. Effect of milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 proliferation without and with
cisplatin58
Figure 2.5. Effect of milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 expression of proliferation proteins
$\beta$ - catenin, p53, p21, CDK2 and cyclin D1. Western blot on proliferation markers $\beta$ -
catenin, p53, p21, CDK2 and cyclin D159
Figure 2.6. Cell-cycle of RAW 264.7 cell treated with bovine milk exosomes without and
with cisplatin60
Figure 3.1. Particle size and zeta potential of bovine milk exosomes
Figure 3.2. Exosomal markers ALIX, TSG101 and CD81
Figure 3.3. Proliferation of RAW 264.7 cell treated with bovine milk exosomes under
hypoxia83



Figure 3.4. Relative production of reactive oxygen production (ROS) in RAW 264.7 ce	эll
treated with bovine milk exosomes under hypoxia	83
Figure 3.5. TNF- $\alpha$ production in RAW 264.7 cells treated with bovine milk exosomes.	84
Figure 3.6. Effect of milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 expression of hypoxia protein HIF	-
$1\alpha$ and proliferation proteins p53 and p21	84
Figure 3.7. The effect of hypoxia and bovine milk treatment on the cell cycle of RAW	
264.7 cells	85



## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 1.1 Literature review

#### 1.1.1 Exosomes

Exosomes are extracellular vesicles involved in cell-to-cell communication<sup>1</sup>. Initially, they were considered a waste product of the cells, but this common belief was dismissed in 1983 when two papers reported that small vesicles around 50nm in size were released from maturing blood reticulocytes <sup>1,2</sup>. Since the discovery of exosomes released from reticulocytes, their secretion has been well documented in many types of cells and body fluids <sup>3,4</sup>. It is important to mention that there are other types of extracellular vesicle including ectosomes and apoptotic bodies <sup>5</sup>. Even though there is still some confusion about how to differentiate between different types of the extracellular vesicles, it is a well-accepted notion that exosomes originate from multivesicular bodies (MVB) while ectosomes originate from plasma membranes <sup>6</sup>. Apoptotic bodies, on the other hand, are made during the processes of programmedcell death called apoptosis. The size among different types of extracellular vesicles is also another important characteristic that helps differentiate between them. Exosomes are considered to be smallest among them with the size from 50-150nm while ectosomes, also called microvesicles, size ranges from 50nm-1000nm<sup>3</sup>. Apoptotic bodies are considerably larger ranging from 800-5000nm<sup>7</sup>. Thus, the particle size distribution is an important parameter in exosomes isolation and identification.



www.manaraa.com

#### 1.1.2 Generation and release of exosomes

As mentioned previously, exosomes originate from multivesicular bodies. One of the most commonly used definitions of generation of exosomes is that they are made by inward budding of endosomes <sup>8</sup>. It starts with the formation of an early endosome which matures into a late endosome and formation of MVB. During this time, endosomal membrane invaginates to make intraluminal vesicles (ILV) that will be released as exosomes upon the endosome fusion with the cell surface <sup>9</sup>. For the generation of ILVs and consequently exosomes, there are two mechanisms known: endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT) dependent and ESCRT independent <sup>10</sup>. In the ESCRT dependent mechanism, the ESCRT complex is recruited to the endosome by transmembrane proteins that have been tagged with ubiquitin <sup>5</sup>. It is important to mention that tumor susceptibility gene 101 (TSG101) is also capable of recognizing ubiquitin <sup>5</sup>. Moreover, when TSG101 was knocked out, the secretion of exosomes was significantly impaired suggesting its importance in exosomes generation <sup>11</sup>. In ESCRT independent mechanism, ESCRT complex is not required, and the formation of exosomes and sorting of exosomal cargoes is regulated by the members of tetraspanin family CD9, CD63 CD81 and CD82<sup>3</sup>. Once exosomes are formed within MVB, the fate of MVB is to fuse with cell membrane and release exosomes out of cell or to fuse with lysosome and be degraded; however, little is known about this process <sup>12</sup>. Once exosomes are released from the cell, the exosome uptake by other cells depends on the protein contained on the exosomes surface specifically tetraspanin family <sup>13</sup>.



www.manaraa.com

#### 1.1.3 Function and significance of exosomes

Exosomes are small membranous vesicles with a major role in intercellular communication. In general, exosomes contain various proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids, and their content depends mostly on the type of cells they originate from <sup>12</sup>. Lately, the presence and importance of exosomal RNAs have been extensively researched. Exosomes contain messenger RNA (mRNA) and micro RNA (miRNA) that can be transferred to the recipient cell and deliver new genetic information <sup>14</sup>. By transferring new genetic information, the protein expression of the recipient cell may be altered. For instance, when human cells were incubated with mouse exosomes, distinct mouse proteins were identified in human cells suggesting that exosomal mRNA can be translated into proteins <sup>15</sup>. Moreover, the transfer of exosomal RNA can differentially affect the gene expression in the recipient cells <sup>16</sup>. With possessing the ability to alter the protein and gene expression, exosomes have been implicated in numerous physiological and pathological processes <sup>17</sup>. For example, in a physiological condition, exosomes from dendritic cells may play an important role in activating immune system while in a pathological condition, exosomes released from cancer cells may exchange their oncogenic content with other cells <sup>17</sup>. The function and therefore their significance are closely related to the type of cells that exosomes originate from.

#### 1.1.4 Exosomes isolation

One of the most commonly used methods for isolation of exosomes is differential ultracentrifugation <sup>4,18,19</sup>. Ultracentrifugation based method for exosomes isolation is considered to be the gold standard <sup>20</sup>. Differential centrifugation isolation method utilizes



www.manaraa.com

consecutive centrifugation steps with increasing speed and time. This method is based on the principle that larger particles settle down first leaving the smaller particles in the supernatant <sup>21</sup>. Due to the size of exosomes and some size overlap with other molecules and extracellular vesicles, ultracentrifugation yields exosomes that may be contaminated <sup>20</sup>. Ultracentrifugation can be accompanied by a density gradient which separates exosomes based on their size, mass, and density in a preconstructed density gradient medium <sup>20</sup>. When exosomes are isolated based on density gradient using sucrose gradient medium, they float in densities from 1.15 to 1.19 g/ml <sup>22</sup>.

Another commonly used method of isolation of exosomes is size-based ultrafiltration <sup>23</sup>. The main principle of ultrafiltration and ultracentrifugation is the same, separation based on the size. Using ultrafiltration, exosomes may be isolated based on molecular weight or their size <sup>20</sup>. However, the ultrafiltration method utilizes force which may contribute to the loss of exosomes caused by rupturing their membranes <sup>24</sup>.

Exosomes precipitation is another technique used in isolation of exosomes and involves the use of polyethylene glycol (PEG) <sup>25</sup>. The principle behind this method is that PEG binds water molecules making other compounds to precipitate. Moreover, commercially available kits such as ExoQuick (System Biosciences, United States) use PEG for exosome isolation <sup>26</sup>. However, it is important to mention that this method has its disadvantages since other molecules such as protein can also precipitate making the exosome isolates contaminated <sup>27</sup>.

The presence of tetraspanins CD63, CD81, CD82, CD9 and ALIX among the other exosomal markers is the principle behind affinity-based isolation techniques <sup>25</sup>. Even though affinity-based techniques can reduce isolation time and yield higher purity of



www.manaraa.com

exosomes, these techniques are expensive, inefficient and not recommended for isolation from large volumes <sup>26</sup>.

#### 1.1.5 Detection and identification exosomes

Commonly used methods for detection of exosomes are dynamic light scattering, flow cytometry and electron microscopy <sup>28</sup>. However, dynamic light scattering favors larger molecules when in heterogenous solution while electron microscopy can alter the shape and size due to sample preparation steps <sup>29</sup>. Both transmission electron microscopy and scanning electron microscopy have been used to detect exosomes <sup>30</sup>. Regardless of the cell type, almost all exosomes are made by inward budding of endosomes; therefore, they contain proteins implicated in membrane transport and fusion (e.g., annexins, flotillins), biosynthesis of multivesicular body (e.g. ALIX and TSG101) and processes that require heat shock proteins integrins and tetraspanins (e.g. CD63, CD81) <sup>31</sup>. Not surprisingly, the identification of exosomes has been heavily relying on the presence of these proteins <sup>18,32</sup>. Western blot and ELISA are commonly used techniques for detection of exosomal proteins <sup>28</sup>.

#### **1.1.6 Bovine milk exosomes**

Bovine milk is a nutrient rich-food that contains carbohydrates, lipids, proteins, minerals, and vitamins. Bovine milk and its compounds have been extensively researched over the years and their bioactivity have been well documented. Over the last 10 years, research related to bovine milk gained more interest since the discovery of exosomes. Earlier studies showed that microvesicles isolated from colostrum and mature milk were



approximately 100 nm in size with a distinct phospholipid bilayer membrane <sup>33</sup>. In addition, the study reported that isolated exosomal RNA from colostrum and mature milk was translated into casein proteins suggesting that exosomal mRNA was intact <sup>32</sup>. Interestingly, bovine milk exosomes may have been isolated in 1973 when a study found that bovine milk contains plasma membrane containing vesicles <sup>34</sup>. However, researchers at the time started becoming aware of the difference between these vesicles and milk fat globule membranes (MFGM) <sup>34,35</sup>. Consequently, a study published in 2012 investigated the difference between MFGM proteome and exosome proteome <sup>36</sup>. The study found that milk exosomes have different but also more diverse proteome compared to MFGM proteome <sup>35</sup>. After establishing the procedure for isolation and characterization of exosomes, researchers investigated how *Staphylococcus aureus* mastitis affects exosome proteome <sup>37</sup>. Interestingly, the study found that the infection changed protein expression of members of heat shock proteins, protocadherin gamma family and to some extent casein proteins.

As the investigation on exosomes from the various cell was advancing and more information was known, consequently, research on bovine milk exosomes was advancing as well. In 2015, after transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1) was discovered on the surface of cancer exosomes <sup>38</sup>, a study found that bovine milk exosomes are also enriched with TGF- $\beta$ 1 which can have immunoregulatory function <sup>19</sup>. Moreover, a study published in 2017 found that bovine milk exosomes were enriched with proteins implicated in immune responses, while mature milk exosomes were enriched with proteins associated with transport and apoptosis suggesting that composition of exosomes changes as the milk matures <sup>39</sup>.



#### 1.1.7 Stability of milk exosomes

As a potential food ingredient, the stability of milk exosomes across different food matrices is imperative. However, the stability of bovine milk exosomes has not been extensively investigated. In a study published in 2012, the researchers found that bovine milk contains mRNA and miRNA that are very stable against acidic conditions and RNAase treatment suggesting that these RNAs could resist manufacturing processing <sup>40</sup>. Since miRNA and mRNA may be enclosed into exosomes and thus protected, another group of researchers was investigating whether exosomes would be stable against a wide range of conditions. Interestingly, when isolated from commercially available milk, exosomes were stable against low pH, boiling and multiple freeze-thaw cycles <sup>19</sup>. However, when the study that was published later investigated whether the miRNA stability relies on the protection of exosomes, they concluded that stability of miRNA did not depend exclusively on exosomes but also other extracellular vesicles, proteins or lipids <sup>41</sup>. MiRNA is small, non-coding RNA that is able to regulate gene expression by binding to mRNA and preventing protein production <sup>42</sup>. The importance of exosomal miRNAs and their implication in numerous pathological and physiological processes <sup>43</sup> is what lead researchers to investigate bioactivity of bovine milk exosomes.

#### 1.1.8 Biological activity of bovine milk exosomes

Studies on the biological activities of bovine milk exosomes are limited but are gaining interest among researchers. Initial studies on biological activities focused on understanding if these bovine milk exosomes can be taken up by different cell types. In



2013, a study found that macrovesicles isolated from bovine colostrum were taken by RAW 264.7 cells <sup>44</sup>. Moreover, the same study found that pretreatment with bovine milk vesicles affected the production of IL-1, IL-6, and IL-10 in LPS-treated RAW 264.7 cells suggesting that bovine milk exosomes have an immunomodulatory effect. Later in 2015, a study found that bovine milk exosomes can be taken by human macrophage cell line THP-1<sup>45</sup>. Interestingly, the results demonstrated that only differentiated THP-1 cells were able to uptake bovine milk exosomes. Immunoregulatory properties of bovine milk exosomes isolated from commercially available milk were confirmed in another study <sup>19</sup>. The study found that bovine milk exosomes contain transforming growth factor beta  $(TGF-\beta)$  on their surface and are able to differentiate naïve T-cells to T-helper 17 in *vitro*. The researchers suggested that the immunomodulatory effect of bovine milk exosomes on T-cell differentiation was associated with the presence of TGF-β. The confirmation that bovine milk exosomes are taken by RAW 264.7 cells came from the study published in 2015<sup>46</sup>. Not only that bovine milk exosomes were taken up by RAW 264.7 cells, but also the pretreatment with bovine milk exosomes before LPS treatment, reduced the production of TNF- $\alpha$  and MCP-1 in adherent splenocytes indicating that bovine milk exosomes could have some anti-inflammatory properties <sup>46</sup>. The bioactive properties of bovine milk exosomes were investigated in a recently published paper where *in vitro*, human colonic goblet LS174T cells showed an increase in mucus production when treated with bovine milk exosomes accompanied by increased goblet cell-associated gene expression of TFF3 <sup>32</sup>. In addition, *in vivo*, administration of bovine milk exosomes significantly increased the number of goblet cell in mice with necrotizing enterocolitis when compared to the untreated group and a



decrease of myeloperoxidase expression was seen in mice treated with bovine milk exosomes suggesting that bovine milk treatment prevented from the development of NEC <sup>32</sup>. Even with a limited number of publications, there is evidence that bovine milk exosomes are biologically active, so a deeper understanding of their role in human health is imperative.

#### 1.1.9 Macrophages: cells of innate immunity

Immune cells can broadly be divided into two categories: cells of innate immunity and cells of adaptive immunity. Macrophages, along with mast cells, dendritic cells, natural killer cells, eosinophils, basophils, and neutrophils are cells of innate immunity. Macrophages are primarily known to be professional phagocytes <sup>47</sup>, but their function and role in the immune response are broader <sup>48</sup>. Macrophages are motile cells containing various receptors on their surface that help them recognize a wide range of host and non-host ligands <sup>47</sup>. Macrophages are not only able to engulf pathogenic organisms but also to remove debris and dying (apoptotic) cells <sup>49,50</sup>. Different subpopulations of macrophages have been identified based on their function and location <sup>51</sup>. According to some sources, macrophages can be divided into two groups: tissue-resident and monocyte-derived macrophages <sup>52</sup>. It was believed that tissue-resident macrophages originate from monocytes; however, there was enough evidence that tissue macrophages originate from embryonic development rather than circulating monocytes <sup>53</sup>. The function of tissue-resident macrophages is to engulf pathogens and to recruit other cells of immune system <sup>51</sup>. In a resting state, macrophages that promote tissue repair are called M2 macrophages while



macrophages that sense a microbe become M1 macrophages <sup>54</sup>. Polarization toward M1 or M2 macrophages also can be achieved by the presence of different cytokines. For instance, interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) is a cytokine that promotes polarization of macrophages toward M1 phenotype while interleukin 4 (IL-4) is needed to polarize macrophages to M2 phenotype <sup>55</sup>.

As mentioned previously, macrophages have numerous receptors which they use to sense the environment around them <sup>56</sup>. Receptors such as Toll-like receptors (TLR), Nod-like receptors (NLR) and scavengers are called pathogen receptors and are used to sense microbes. TLRs are membrane receptors used to sense bacterial, viral or fungal parts <sup>56</sup>. NLRs are similar in their function to TLRs but they are located in the cytoplasm and can recognize damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) <sup>57</sup>. Scavenger receptors are membrane receptors and their function is to recognize bacterial parts or altered-self <sup>56</sup>.

One of the primary functions of macrophages is phagocytosis. When pathogenrecognition receptors such as dectin-1 on macrophages recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns, the process can initiate phagocytosis <sup>58</sup>. Once the pathogen is internalized, the killing of pathogens is achieved when the phagosome fuses with a lysosome containing antimicrobial compounds <sup>58</sup>. It is important to mention that one of the best-studied phagocytosis processes is one that is facilitated by immunoglobulins G (IgG) when Fcγ receptors on phagocytic cells recognize pathogens coated with IgG <sup>59</sup>. Interestingly, even though phagocytosis was discovered more than 100 years ago, the process is not fully understood yet <sup>59</sup>. Similarly to the pathogen recognition process, apoptotic bodies need to be recognized in order to be phagocytosed by macrophage



cells <sup>58</sup>. Apoptotic bodies display molecules that are not normally present outside the cells and those molecules are recognized by the phagocytes.

Another important function of macrophages is the secretion of numerous cytokines. Cytokines are small proteins released by cells with a role in cell-to-cell communication <sup>60</sup>. The most important function of cytokines is to regulate inflammation, and they can be divided into pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines <sup>61</sup>. Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, and IL-6 are released after the cells sense the presence of pathogens via their receptors <sup>61</sup>. The first cytokine to be released after the indication of immune responses is TNF-a<sup>61</sup>. Although the function of TNF-a is complex, one of the major roles of this cytokine is the resistance to infections <sup>62</sup>. IL-6 function is also complex including reduction of available iron seen in inflammation and differentiation of naïve CD4+ T cells <sup>63</sup>. To this date, 11 members of IL-1 cytokine family have been identified and some of them have pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory properties <sup>64</sup>. IL-1 $\beta$ , as a member of IL-1 cytokine family, is a proinflammatory cytokine and its secretion from the cell depends on the inflammasome formation <sup>64</sup>. The function of anti-inflammatory cytokine is to lessen inflammation and prevent tissue damage from excess inflammatory response <sup>65</sup>. One of the most potent antiinflammatory cytokines is IL-10 and its function is to inhibit the release of proinflammatory cytokines 65.

#### 1.1.10 Cell cycle and cell proliferation

Cell cycle and therefore cell proliferation is a tightly regulated process. The cell goes through phases gap 1 (G1), synthesis (S), gap 2 (G2) and finally mitosis (M) to produce



two daughter cells. G1 phase prepare cells for DNA synthesis which happens in S phase. Similarly, G2 phase prepares cells for mitosis which happens in the M phase of the cell cycle <sup>66</sup>. This process is heavily controlled to prevent the division of cells if DNA is damaged. The cell has the ability to repair DNA damage; however, when DNA is too damaged to be repaired, the cell would initiate programmed cell death known as apoptosis <sup>67</sup>. Development of cancer is followed by uncontrolled cell proliferation caused by the cell inability to induce apoptosis when damage is too large to be repaired <sup>68</sup>. Factors involved in the cell cycle such as growth factors, oncogenes and anti-oncogenes play a role in the ability of cells to undergo apoptosis <sup>69</sup>.

The central proteins that regulate the cell's progression through different phases of the cell cycle are cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) <sup>69</sup>. To become activated, CDKs need to be in the adequate phosphorylated state and in complex with cyclins <sup>66</sup>. Moreover, to move to the next stage of the cell cycle, the cyclin from the previous stage needs to be degraded <sup>66</sup>. However, tumor suppressor protein p53 can negatively regulate the cell cycle causing cell cycle arrest if DNA damage is present <sup>70</sup>. Activation of p53 leads to activation of p21 which forms a complex with CDKs. The formation of a complex between p21 and CDK2 or CDK4 will inactivate CDKs thus preventing progression from G1 to S phase <sup>71</sup>. One of the commonly used methods to analyze cell cycle is by flow cytometry using a fluorescence dye that binds DNA. The principle behind cell cycle analysis is that the amount of fluorescence is proportional to the amount of DNA <sup>72</sup>.



#### 1.1.11 Hypoxia

Hypoxia is a phenomenon characterized by low oxygen concentrations that are not enough to maintain cellular function <sup>73</sup>. In aerobic organisms, oxygen serves as the final electron acceptor in the process of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) formation during cellular respiration. The cells need a high constant ATP/ADP ratio to maintain normal function hence oxygen depletion lead to reduced cell viability <sup>74</sup>. Cells sense hypoxia by different mechanisms and one of the ways is through mitochondria which is a primary site of oxygen consumption <sup>75</sup>. It is important to say that hypoxia can be acute and chronic. While acute hypoxia can cause a disturbance in ion homeostasis, chronic hypoxia can alter gene expression <sup>73</sup>. One of the first proteins that is activated in hypoxia is hypoxia-inducible factor family (HIF) which comprises of three different members HIF-1, HIF-2 and HIF-3<sup>73</sup>. HIF-1 is the most ubiquitous and contains oxygen sensitive alpha ( $\alpha$ ) unit that is destabilized in the presence of oxygen <sup>76</sup>. HIF-1 $\alpha$  is degraded in normoxia, thus hypoxia stabilizes HIF-1 $\alpha$  which can dimerize with HIF-1 $\beta$ . Once stabilized, HIF-1 can translocate into the nucleus and bind to targeted genes altering their expression <sup>73,77</sup>. Hypoxia can play an important role in cell proliferation, differentiation, energy metabolism, acidosis, reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation and apoptosis <sup>73</sup>.

Swelling, heat, redness, and pain are four signs of inflammation. It is known that reduced oxygen concentrations are seen in inflamed tissue mostly due to pressure caused by swelling <sup>78</sup>. Since hypoxia is associated with danger, the condition may result in macrophages polarizing to a pro-inflammatory phenotype <sup>79</sup>. It is documented that the production of nitric oxide (NO) and TNF-  $\alpha$  in macrophage cells is HIF-1 $\alpha$  -dependent <sup>80</sup>.



Also, a previous publish study demonstrated that hypoxia resulted in significant ROS generation and reduced cell viability in murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7<sup>81</sup>. ROS can damage DNA, proteins, and lipids but also have a beneficial effect in the cells of innate immunity since it is involved in the direct killing of pathogens <sup>82</sup>.

#### 1.1.12 Macrophages and chemotherapeutic drugs

Cancer is the second leading cause of death in the United States <sup>83</sup>. Chemotherapeutic drugs are one of the available methods to treat cancer. The basic principle of chemotherapeutic drugs is that it targets the cells that are dividing. By doing that, chemotherapeutic drugs do not distinguish between healthy and cancer cell which can cause apoptosis in healthy cells. For instance, when RAW 264.7 cells were treated with doxorubicin, a chemotherapeutic drug, there was a significant decrease in cell viability. However, when RAW 264.7 cells were treated with doxorubicin and bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), LPS prevented doxorubicin-induced apoptosis <sup>84</sup>. Developing new drugs that will protect the healthy cell from killing while targeting cancer cells is still a challenge <sup>85</sup>.

## 1.2 Hypothesis and objectives

Hypothesis of this study are:

- 1. Exosomes are stable against *in vitro* digestion and changes in pH.
- Bovine milk exosomes will affect RAW 264.7 cells proliferation by affecting cell cycle.

Objectives of this study are:



- 1. To isolate and characterize exosomes from commercially available bovine milk.
- 2. To investigate the effect of bovine milk exosomes in RAW 264.7 cell under hypoxia and normoxia.

المنسارات

#### References

- Article R, Nagarajah S. Exosome Secretion More than Simple Waste Disposal ? Implications for Physiology , Diagnostics and Therapeutics. *Journal of Circulating Biomarkers*. 2016;5. doi:10.5772/62975
- Harding C V, Heuser JE, Stahl PD. Exosomes : Looking back three decades and into the future. *The Journal of Cell Biology*. 2013;200(4):367-371. doi:10.1083/jcb.201212113
- Niel G Van, Angelo GD, Raposo G. Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. *Nature Reviews*. 2018;19:213-228. doi:10.1038/nrm.2017.125
- Lässer C, Alikhani VS, Ekström K, et al. Human saliva , plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA : uptake by macrophages. *Journal of Translational Medicine*. 2011;9(1):1-8. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-9
- Edgar JR. Q & A: What are exosomes, exactly? *BMC Biology*. 2016;14. doi:10.1186/s12915-016-0268-z
- Cocucci E, Meldolesi J. Ectosomes and exosomes : shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles. *Trends in Cell Biology*. 2015;25(6):364-372. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2015.01.004
- Crescitelli R, La C, Szabo TG, et al. Distinct RNA profiles in subpopulations of extracellular vesicles: apoptotic bodies, microvesicles and exosomes ´3,. *Journal* of Extracellular Vesicles. 2013;2:20677.
- 8. Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ. Exosomes: Extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. *Journal of Proteomics*. 2010;73(10):1907-1920.



doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2010.06.006

- Huotari J, Helenius A. Endosome maturation. *The EMBO Journal*.
   2011;30(17):3481-3500. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.286
- Urbanelli L, Magini A, Buratta S, et al. Signaling pathways in exosomes biogenesis, secretion and fate. *Genes*. 2013;4(2):152-170. doi:10.3390/genes4020152
- Colombo M, Moita C, van Niel G, et al. Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles. *Journal of Cell Science*. 2013;126(24):5553-5565. doi:10.1242/jcs.128868
- Hessvik NP, Llorente A. Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 2018;75(2):193-208. doi:10.1007/s00018-017-2595-9
- Rana S, Yue S, Stadel D, Zöller M. Toward tailored exosomes: The exosomal tetraspanin web contributes to target cell selection. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*. 2012;44(9):1574-1584. doi:10.1016/J.BIOCEL.2012.06.018
- De Toro J, Herschlik L, Waldner C, Mongini C. Emerging roles of exosomes in normal and pathological conditions: new insights for diagnosis and therapeutic applications. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 2015;6:203. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00203
- 15. Valadi H, Ekström K, Bossios A, Sjöstrand M, Lee JJ, Lötvall JO. Exosomemediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic



exchange between cells. *Nature Cell Biology*. 2007;9(6):654-659. doi:10.1038/ncb1596

- Willms E, Johansson HJ, Mäger I, et al. Cells release subpopulations of exosomes with distinct molecular and biological properties. *Scientific Reports*. 2016;6:22519. doi:10.1038/srep22519
- Isola AL, Chen S. Exosomes: The Messengers of Health and Disease. *Current Neuropharmacology*. 2017;15(1):157-165.
   doi:10.2174/1570159X14666160825160421
- 18. Munagala R, Aqil F, Jeyabalan J, Gupta RC. Bovine milk-derived exosomes for drug delivery. *Cancer Letters*. 2016;371:48-61. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.020
- Pieters BCH, Arntz OJ, Bennink MB, Broeren MGA, Arjan P. Commercial Cow Milk Contains Physically Stable Extracellular Vesicles Expressing Immunoregulatory TGF- β. *PLOS One*. 2015;10(3):1-14. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0121123
- 20. Li P, Kaslan M, Lee SH, Yao J, Gao Z. Progress in Exosome Isolation Techniques. *Theranostics*. 2017;7(3):789-804. doi:10.7150/thno.18133
- Livshits MA, Khomyakova E, Evtushenko EG, et al. Isolation of exosomes by differential centrifugation: Theoretical analysis of a commonly used protocol. *Scientific Reports*. 2015;5(1):17319. doi:10.1038/srep17319
- Alexander RP, Chiou N-T, Ansel KM. Improved exosome isolation by sucrose gradient fractionation of ultracentrifuged crude exosome pellets. *Protocol Exchange*. August 2016. doi:10.1038/protex.2016.057
- 23. Yakimchuk K. Exosomes: isolation methods and specific markers. Materials and



Methods. 2015;5. doi:10.13070/mm.en.5.1450

- Batrakova E V., Kim MS. Using exosomes, naturally-equipped nanocarriers, for drug delivery. *Journal of Controlled Release*. 2015;219:396-405. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.07.030
- Zeringer E, Barta T, Li M, Vlassov A V. Strategies for Isolation of Exosomes. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols*. 2015;2015(4):pdb.top074476.
   doi:10.1101/PDB.TOP074476
- Konoshenko MY, Lekchnov EA, Vlassov A V., Laktionov PP. Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles: General Methodologies and Latest Trends. *BioMed Research International*. 2018;2018:1-27. doi:10.1155/2018/8545347
- 27. Van Deun J, Mestdagh P, Sormunen R, et al. The impact of disparate isolation methods for extracellular vesicles on downstream RNA profiling. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*. 2014;3(1):24858. doi:10.3402/jev.v3.24858
- 28. Kastelowitz N, Yin H. Exosomes and microvesicles: identification and targeting by particle size and lipid chemical probes. *Chembiochem : a European Journal of Chemical biology*. 2014;15(7):923-928. doi:10.1002/cbic.201400043
- 29. Dragovic RA, Gardiner C, Brooks AS, et al. Sizing and phenotyping of cellular vesicles using Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*. 2011;7(6):780-788. doi:10.1016/j.nano.2011.04.003
- Wu Y, Deng W, Klinke DJ, II. Exosomes: improved methods to characterize their morphology, RNA content, and surface protein biomarkers. *The Analyst*. 2015;140(19):6631-6642. doi:10.1039/c5an00688k
- 31. Vlassov A V, Magdaleno S, Setterquist R, Conrad R. Exosomes : Current



knowledge of their composition, biological functions, and diagnostic and therapeutic potentials. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 2012;1820(7):940-948. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.03.017

- Id BL, Hock A, Wu RY, et al. Bovine milk-derived exosomes enhance goblet cell activity and prevent the development of experimental necrotizing enterocolitis. *PloS One*. 2019;14:e0211431.
- Hata T, Murakami K, Nakatani H, Yamamoto Y, Matsuda T, Aoki N. Isolation of bovine milk-derived microvesicles carrying mRNAs and microRNAs. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 2010;396(2):528-533. doi:10.1016/J.BBRC.2010.04.135
- 34. Plantz PE, Patton S KT. Further evidence of plasma membrane material in skim milk. J Dairy Sci 1973;56:978–83. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 1973;56:978-983.
- 35. Reinhardt TA, Lippolis JD. Bovine Milk Fat Globule Membrane Proteome. *Journal of Dairy Research*. 2006;73(04):406. doi:10.1017/S0022029906001889
- Reinhardt TA, Lippolis JD, Nonnecke BJ, Sacco RE. Bovine milk exosome proteome. *Journal of Proteomics*. 2012;75(5):1486-1492. doi:10.1016/J.JPROT.2011.11.017
- 37. Reinhardt TA, Sacco RE, Nonnecke BJ, Lippolis JD. Bovine milk proteome: Quantitative changes in normal milk exosomes, milk fat globule membranes and whey proteomes resulting from Staphylococcus aureus mastitis. *Journal of Proteomics*. 2013;82:141-154. doi:10.1016/J.JPROT.2013.02.013
- Clayton A, Mitchell JP, Court J, Mason MD, Tabi Z. Human Tumor-Derived
   Exosomes Selectively Impair Lymphocyte Responses to Interleukin-2. *Cancer*



Research. 2007;67(15):7458-7466. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3456

- Samuel M, Chisanga D, Liem M, et al. Bovine milk-derived exosomes from colostrum are enriched with proteins implicated in immune response and growth. *Scientific Reports*. 2017;7(June):5933. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-06288-8
- Izumi H, Kosaka N, Shimizu T, Sekine K, Ochiya T, Takase M. Bovine milk contains microRNA and messenger RNA that are stable under degradative conditions. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 2012;95(9):4831-4841. doi:10.3168/jds.2012-5489
- 41. Conditions T, Benmoussa A, Lee CHC, et al. Commercial Dairy Cow Milk microRNAs Resist Digestion under Simulated Gastrointestinal. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 2016;146:2206-2215. doi:10.3945/jn.116.237651.interspecies
- Macfarlane L-A, Murphy PR. MicroRNA: Biogenesis, Function and Role in Cancer. *Current Genomics*. 2010;11(7):537-561. doi:10.2174/138920210793175895
- 43. Fernández-Messina L, Gutiérrez-Vázquez C, Rivas-García E, Sánchez-Madrid F, de la Fuente H. Immunomodulatory role of microRNAs transferred by extracellular vesicles. *Biology of the Cell*. 2015;107(3):61-77. doi:10.1111/boc.201400081
- Sun Q, Chen X, Yu J, Zen K, Zhang C-Y, Li L. Immune modulatory function of abundant immune-related microRNAs in microvesicles from bovine colostrum.
   *Protein & Cell*. 2013;4(3):197-210. doi:10.1007/s13238-013-2119-9
- 45. Izumi H, Tsuda M, Sato Y, Kosaka N, Ochiya T, Iwamoto H. Bovine milk exosomes contain microRNA and mRNA and are taken up by human macrophages. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 2015;98:2920-2933.



doi:10.3168/jds.2014-9076

- Arntz OJ, Pieters BCH, Oliveira MC, et al. Oral administration of bovine milk derived extracellular vesicles attenuates arthritis in two mouse models. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*. 2015;59:1701-1712. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201500222
- 47. Gordon S. Phagocytosis: The Legacy of Metchnikoff. *Cell*. 2016;166(5):1065-1068. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.08.017
- 48. Gordon S, Martinez-Pomares L. Physiological roles of macrophages. *Pflugers Archiv : European Journal of Physiology*. 2017;469(3-4):365-374. doi:10.1007/s00424-017-1945-7
- 49. Billack B. Macrophage activation: role of toll-like receptors, nitric oxide, and nuclear factor kappa B. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*.
  2006;70(5):102. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17149431. Accessed March 17, 2019.
- 50. Arandjelovic S, Ravichandran KS. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in homeostasis. *Nature Immunology*. 2015;16(9):907-917. doi:10.1038/ni.3253
- 51. Murray PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 2011;11(11):723-737. doi:10.1038/nri3073
- 52. Davies LC, Jenkins SJ, Allen JE, Taylor PR. Tissue-resident macrophages. *Nature Immunology*. 2013;14(10):986. doi:10.1038/ni.2705
- 53. Epelman S, Lavine KJ, Randolph GJ. Origin and functions of tissue macrophages. *Immunity*. 2014;41(1):21-35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.013
- 54. Mills CD, Ley K. M1 and M2 Macrophages: The Chicken and the Egg of Immunity. *Journal of Innate Immunity*. 2014;6(6):716-726. doi:10.1159/000364945


- 55. Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000prime Reports*. 2014;6:13. doi:10.12703/P6-13
- Ley K, Pramod AB, Croft M, Ravichandran KS, Ting JP. How Mouse Macrophages Sense What Is Going On. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 2016;7:204. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00204
- 57. Kim YK, Shin J-S, Nahm MH. NOD-Like Receptors in Infection, Immunity, and Diseases. *Yonsei Medical Journal*. 2016;57(1):5. doi:10.3349/ymj.2016.57.1.5
- 58. Rosales C, Uribe-Querol E. Phagocytosis: A Fundamental Process in Immunity. *BioMed Research International*. 2017;2017:9042851. doi:10.1155/2017/9042851
- Richards DM, Endres RG. The mechanism of phagocytosis: two stages of engulfment. *Biophysical Journal*. 2014;107(7):1542-1553. doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2014.07.070
- 60. Zhang J-M, An J. Cytokines, inflammation, and pain. *International Anesthesiology Clinics*. 2007;45(2):27-37. doi:10.1097/AIA.0b013e318034194e
- Arango Duque G, Descoteaux A. Macrophage cytokines: involvement in immunity and infectious diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 2014;5:491. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00491
- Idriss HT, Naismith JH. TNFα and the TNF receptor superfamily: Structurefunction relationship(s). *Microscopy Research and Technique*. 2000;50(3):184-195. doi:10.1002/1097-0029(20000801)50:3<184::AID-JEMT2>3.0.CO;2-H
- Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease.
   *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. 2014;6(10):a016295.
   doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a016295



- 64. Borthwick LA. The IL-1 cytokine family and its role in inflammation and fibrosis in the lung. *Seminars in Immunopathology*. 2016;38(4):517-534.
  doi:10.1007/s00281-016-0559-z
- 65. Iyer SS, Cheng G. Role of interleukin 10 transcriptional regulation in inflammation and autoimmune disease. *Critical Reviews in Immunology*. 2012;32(1):23-63. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22428854. Accessed March 18, 2019.
- 66. Schafer KA. The Cell Cycle: A Review. *Veterinary Pathology*. 1998;35(6):461478. doi:10.1177/030098589803500601
- Nowsheen S, Yang ES. The intersection between DNA damage response and cell death pathways. *Experimental Oncology*. 2012;34(3):243-254. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23070009. Accessed March 18, 2019.
- Cooper GM. The Development and Causes of Cancer. 2000.
   https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK9963/. Accessed March 18, 2019.
- Golias CH, Charalabopoulos A, Charalabopoulos K. Cell proliferation and cell cycle control: a mini review. *International Journal of Clinical Practice*. 2004;58(12):1134-1141. doi:10.1111/j.1742-1241.2004.00284.x
- Giono LE, Manfredi JJ. The p53 tumor suppressor participates in multiple cell cycle checkpoints. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*. 2006;209(1):13-20. doi:10.1002/jcp.20689
- He G, Siddik ZH, Huang Z, et al. Induction of p21 by p53 following DNA damage inhibits both Cdk4 and Cdk2 activities. *Oncogene*. 2005;24(18):2929-2943. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208474
- 72. Cobb L. Cell Based Assays: the Cell Cycle, Cell Proliferation and Cell Death.



Materials and Methods. 2013;3. doi:10.13070/mm.en.3.172

- 73. Gilany K, Gilany K, Vafakhah M. Hypoxia: a Review. *Journal of Paramedical Sciences*. 2010;1(2):43-60. doi:10.22037/jps.v1i2.1616
- López-Barneo J, Pardal R, Ortega-Sáenz P. Cellular Mechanism of Oxygen Sensing. *Annual Review of Physiology*. 2001;63(1):259-287. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.63.1.259
- 75. Guzy RD, Schumacker PT. Oxygen sensing by mitochondria at complex III: the paradox of increased reactive oxygen species during hypoxia. *Experimental Physiology*. 2006;91(5):807-819. doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2006.033506
- 76. Marxsen JH, Stengel P, Doege K, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) promotes its degradation by induction of HIF-alpha-prolyl-4-hydroxylases. *The Biochemical Journal*. 2004;381(Pt 3):761-767. doi:10.1042/BJ20040620
- 77. Ziello JE, Jovin IS, Huang Y. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor (HIF)-1 regulatory pathway and its potential for therapeutic intervention in malignancy and ischemia. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*. 2007;80(2):51-60.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18160990. Accessed March 18, 2019.

- Egners A, Erdem M, Cramer T. The Response of Macrophages and Neutrophils to Hypoxia in the Context of Cancer and Other Inflammatory Diseases. *Mediators of Inflammation*. 2016;2016:1-10. doi:10.1155/2016/2053646
- Riboldi E, Porta C, Morlacchi S, Viola A, Mantovani A, Sica A. Hypoxia-mediated regulation of macrophage functions in pathophysiology. *International Immunology*. 2013;25(2):67-75. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxs110
- 80. Peyssonnaux C, Datta V, Cramer T, et al. HIF-1alpha expression regulates the



bactericidal capacity of phagocytes. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2005;115(7):1806-1815. doi:10.1172/JCI23865

- Lee JH, Kim K, Jo YH, Hwang E, Chung J, Yang C. Reoxygenation speed and its implication for cellular injury responses in hypoxic RAW 264.7 cells. *Journal of Surgical Research*. 2017;227:88-94. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2017.11.005
- McCallum KC, Garsin DA. The Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in Modulating the Caenorhabditis elegans Immune Response. *PLoS Pathogens*. 2016;12(11):e1005923. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005923
- FastStats Leading Causes of Death. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/leadingcauses-of-death.htm. Accessed March 19, 2019.
- Hassan F, Islam S, Mu M, et al. Lipopolysaccharide Prevents Doxorubicin-Induced Apoptosis in RAW 264.7 Macrophage Cells by Inhibiting p53 Activation. *Molecular Cancer Research*. 2005;3(7):373-379. http://mcr.aacrjournals.org/content/molcanres/3/7/373.full.pdf. Accessed March 19, 2019.
- 85. Cheok CF. Protecting normal cells from the cytotoxicity of chemotherapy. *Cell Cycle*. 2012;11:2227-2228.



### CHAPTER 2: BOVINE MILK EXOSOMES AFFECT PROLIFERATION AND PROTECT MACROPHAGES AGAINST CISPLATIN-INDUCED CYTOTOXICITY



This chapter has been submitted to a food science and technology journal as:

Title: Bovine milk exosomes affect proliferation and protect macrophages against

cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity

Authors: Svjetlana Matic, Doris H. D'Souza, Tao Wu, Philipus Pangloli, Vermont P. Dia Author roles:

Svjetlana Matic: performance of experiments and writing of manuscript,

Doris H. D'Souza: guidance and revision of manuscript,

Tao Wu: guidance and revision of manuscript,

Philipus Pangloli: isolation of exosomes and assist in the analysis,

Vermont P. Dia: experimental design, guidance, and final revision of manuscript.

#### 2.1 Abstract

Exosomes are extracellular vesicles involved in intercellular communication. The objectives were to characterize bovine milk exosomes and determine its effect on the proliferation of RAW 264.7 macrophages. Bovine milk exosomes were isolated using differential centrifugation and identified by the presence of exosomal markers (ALIX, TSG101, and CD81) and the particle size. The effect of *in vitro* simulated gastrointestinal digestion and different pH on stability of milk exosomes was investigated. The biological activity of milk exosomes in RAW 264.7 was conducted by measuring proliferation, expression of proliferation markers p53, p21, cyclin D1, CDK2 and  $\beta$ -catenin and analysis of cell cycle. Moreover, the protective effect of exosomes on cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity in macrophages was investigated. Exosomes were positive on exosomal markers and their size was 106.8 nm ± 3.4. Exosomal marker



TSG101 was detected after digestion and exposure to different pH values. Proliferation markers were affected by exosome treatment. Cell cycle analysis showed that exosomes treatment reduced the percentage of pre-apoptotic cells while arresting the cells in G2/M phase. Exosomes had a protective effect against cisplatin-induced apoptosis in macrophages. The results demonstrated that bovine milk exosomes isolated from commercially available milk are stable and affected macrophage proliferation indicating its potential role in the immune system. Further research is needed to understand its role in human health.

#### 2.2 Introduction

Bovine milk is a nutrient-rich food containing lipids, proteins, minerals, and vitamins that are needed for the growth and development of the calf. It contains immunoglobulins, hormones, growth factors, cytokines, enzymes and bioactive peptides <sup>1</sup>. The immunoregulatory effect of bovine milk peptides in humans has been well documented <sup>2</sup>. An animal study suggests that oral administration of bovine lactoferrin and lactoperoxidase may attenuate pneumonia in mice infected with influenza virus <sup>3</sup>. The results from multiple clinical trials suggest that bovine lactoferrin may reduce the incidence of sepsis in neonates <sup>4</sup>. Furthermore, pretreatment with bovine milk may prevent acid and alcohol-induced gastric ulcer development in mice <sup>5</sup>. Clearly, the consumption of milk has numerous potential benefits in human health. Exosomes are extracellular vesicle (30-120nm) and their synthesis and secretion have been documented in the most types of cell <sup>6</sup>. Exosomal cargo heterogeneity depends on the type of the cell and may contain nucleic acids, enzymes, lipids and proteins <sup>7</sup>.



Exosomes play an important role not only in cell-to-cell communication via transfer of the exosomal cargo from donor to recipient cell but also angiogenesis, cell survival, inflammation and immune response <sup>8,9</sup>.

Recently, food-sourced exosomes have been identified from different plants including ginger, carrots, grapefruit, and grape and they can alter the gene expression in the recipient cells <sup>10</sup>. Moreover, isolation and identification of exosomes have been reported in human and commercially available bovine milk <sup>11,12</sup>. Human milk exosomes are stable against *in vitro* digestion and are taken by human intestinal cells *in vitro* <sup>11</sup>. In another study, oral administration of extracellular vesicles isolated from commercially available milk lessened arthritis in mice <sup>12</sup>.

Previous studies have revealed that bovine milk exosomes contain miRNA and messenger RNA <sup>13,14</sup>. In the previously mentioned study, a very small difference in microRNA expression between exosomes isolated from raw and commercially available milk may suggest that heat treatment (pasteurization) does not affect exosome bioavailability <sup>14</sup>. Micro-RNA has been implicated in numerous physiological and pathological processes including cancer <sup>15</sup>. The US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention predicts that in the near future, cancer will be the leading cause of death in the United States. Chemotherapy is one of the available treatments for cancer; however, it does not distinguish between healthy and cancer cells. Protecting the heathy cells from the cytotoxic effect of chemotherapeutic drugs is still a major problem in cancer treatment <sup>16</sup>.

Bioactivity of bovine milk exosomes and their potential use as a functional food ingredient is still unknown. Therefore, the objective of this study was to isolate,



characterize and investigate the effect of pH and *in vitro* simulated gastrointestinal (GI) digestion on the stability of exosomes. Also, the biological activity of bovine milk exosomes and its effect on murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7 with and without the chemotherapeutic drug cisplatin was investigated.

#### 2.3 Materials and methods

#### 2.3.1 Materials

Murine macrophage RAW 264.7 cell line was purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Growth media DMEM 1X was purchased from Corning Inc. (Corning, NY). Fetal bovine serum (FBS) was purchased from Life Technologies (Carlsbad, CA). Primary antibodies (PDCD 61P (ALIX) 12422-1- AP, TSG 101 14497-1-AP, CD81 18250-1-AP, CDK2 60312-1-Ig, β-catenin 51067-2-AP, p53 10442-1-AP, p21 60214-1-Ig, cyclin D1 60186-1-Ig, and GAPDH 60004-1-Ig) were purchased from Proteintech (Rosemont, IL). Secondary antibodies (goat anti-mouse and goat antirabbit) were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA).

#### 2.3.2 Isolation of exosomes

Exosomes were isolated from commercially available fat-free milk (Great Value brand) by differential centrifugation under sterile conditions following previously described protocol with some modifications <sup>17</sup>. Briefly, milk was centrifuged at 13,000 x g at 4 °C for 30 min in 250 mL centrifuge bottles using SS-34 rotor and SORVALL® RC-5B PLUS centrifuge. The whey was collected, transferred into polycarbonate 26.3 mL Beckman centrifuge tubes, and centrifuged at 100,000 x g at 4 °C for 60 min in Type 50.2 Ti rotor



using Optima XL-80K Ultracentrifuge (Beckman Coulter, Inc.). The final supernatant was collected, transferred to 26.3 mL centrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 135,000 x g at 4 °C for 90 min. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was washed with PBS twice. The exosome pellet was collected and resuspended in PBS. Isolated exosomes were sterile filtered through 0.22  $\mu$ m filters. The protein concentration of exosomes was adjusted to 6 mg/mL and stored at -80 °C until further use.

#### 2.3.3 Characterization of milk exosomes

The protein concentration of exosomes was determined by Pierce <sup>™</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL U.S.A). Exosomes were diluted to 1 mg/mL concentration for particle size and zeta potential analysis. The size and zeta potential were measured by Zetasizer (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Malvern, Worcestershire, UK). Protein profile of exosomes was assessed by SDS-PAGE and exosomal protein markers tumor susceptibility gene 101 (TSG101), cluster of differentiation 81 (CD81), and programmed cell death 6-interacting protein (PDCD 6IP-ALIX) were detected by western blot analysis described below.

#### 2.3.4 Effect of pH on exosomes stability

Exosomes were diluted to 1 mg/mL concentration using PBS. Then, 10 mL of diluted exosomes was adjusted to different pH values (2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12) using hydrochloric acid (HCl) and sodium hydroxide (NaOH) accordingly. pH-adjusted samples were stirred at 550 rpm for 20 min at room temperature (RT). After stirring, the samples were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was



collected, and the protein concentration of the supernatant was determined. The particle size and zeta potential of pH-adjusted samples were measured. Protein profile and the presence of exosomal markers TSG101, CD81 and ALIX was assessed by SDS-PAGE and western blot analysis, respectively.

#### 2.3.5 Pepsin-pancreatin digestion of exosomes

Pepsin- pancreatin digestion was performed following previously reported procedure <sup>18</sup>. Two milliliters of approximately 6 mg/mL exosomes were mixed with 8 mL PBS and the pH of the sample was adjusted to 2.0 using HCl. Pepsin was added at a 1:10 enzyme:protein ratio. Pepsin digestion was carried out for 60 min in a shaking water bath at 37 °C. To inactive pepsin, pH was adjusted to 7.5 using sodium hydroxide. A 5 mL aliquot was taken and centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 10 min to remove any large particles. The supernatant was collected and used for further analysis. Pancreatin and bile were added to the remaining pepsin samples at a 1:10 enzyme: protein ratio, and the pancreatin digestion was carried out for 60 min in a shaking water bath at 37 °C. Pancreatin was inactivated by heating the samples at 75 °C for 20 min. Pancreatin samples were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C, and the supernatant was collected. Pepsin and pancreatin samples were analyzed for protein content, particle size, and zeta potential. Protein profile and the presence of TSG101, CD81, and ALIX was assessed by SDS-PAGE and western blot, respectively.



#### 2.3.6 SDS-PAGE and western blot detection of TSG 101, CD 81 and ALIX

Isolated exosomes, pH-adjusted, and digested samples were mixed with an equal volume of 2x Laemmli sample buffer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.) containing 5% βmercaptoethanol and heated in boiling water for 5 minutes. An equal amount of protein (for pH-adjusted samples) and an equal volume (for digested samples) of samples were loaded into Mini-Protean ® TGX<sup>™</sup> gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.) and run in Bio-Rad Tris/Glycine/SDS buffer at 200 volts for 35 minutes. The gel was washed with deionized (DI) water 3 times (5 min each), and 50 mL of Bio-Safe<sup>™</sup> Coomassie G-250 stain was added and gently shaken for 1 hour. The gel was rinsed with DI water for 30 min. For western blot analysis, after SDS-PAGE, the gel was equilibrated in blotting buffer for 15 min. The proteins were transferred onto an Amersham<sup>™</sup> Hybond<sup>™</sup> 0.45 µm polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (PVDF) at 110 volts for 60 min at 4 °C. The PVDF membrane was blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk in Tris-Buffered Saline -0.01% Tween 20 (TBST) for 1 h at room temperature. After blocking, the membrane was washed in TBST three times each time for 5 min. The membrane was incubated with primary antibodies against TSG101, CD81 and ALIX (Proteintech Group, Inc. IL, USA) at 1:1000 dilution overnight at 4 °C. After washing, secondary anti-rabbit antibodies at 1:5000 dilutions were incubated for 1.5 h at room temperature. The membrane was washed, saturated with Bio-Rad Clarity<sup>TM</sup> Western ECL Substrate and imaged by a C-Digit blot scanner (Li-Cor Biosciences, U.S.).



#### 2.3.7 Cell culture and cell proliferation assay

Murine macrophages RAW 264.7 were cultured in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin and at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> until confluency. Briefly, 2 X 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well were seeded into a 6-well plate in the total volume adjusted to 2 mL and incubated overnight to attach at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After overnight incubation, the cells were treated with different exosomes concentration ranging from 30 to 250  $\mu$ g/mL for 24 h. The cells were harvested according to the protocol described below. For proliferation assay, 5 X 10<sup>3</sup> cells/well were seeded into a 96-well plate in the total volume 200  $\mu$ L and incubated overnight to attach at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Then, the cells were treated with different exosomes concentration a 96-well plate in the total volume 200  $\mu$ L and incubated overnight to attach at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Then, the cells were treated with different exosomes concentration (15 to 250  $\mu$ g/mL) with or without cisplatin (5  $\mu$ M) for 24h. After the treatment, the growth media was replaced with 100  $\mu$ L fresh plain growth media containing 10% MTS reagent and incubated for 3 h under the same conditions as described above. The absorbance was read at 490 nm and the percent of viable cells was calculated with respect to untreated cells.

#### 2.3.8 Whole cell lysate preparation

After the cells were treated, 6-well plates were placed on ice and the growth media was removed. The cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS to remove cell debris. After washing, 100  $\mu$ L radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer containing 1% protease inhibitor complex was added to each well and incubated for 5 min. Cells were harvested by scraping and transferred to 1.5 mL microfuge tubes and vortexed at 14, 000 x g for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was collected, and protein concentration was measured using Bradford reagent and BSA as the standard. The



supernatant was mixed with Laemmli buffer containing 5%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol in equal volumes and boiled for 5 min. The samples were stored at -80 °C until use.

### 2.3.9 Western blot for proliferation proteins p21, p53, $\beta$ -catenin, cyclin D1 and

#### CDK 2

Approximately, 10 µg of the protein of the cell lysate was loaded in 8-16% SurePAGE (GenScript) gels. The gel electrophoresis was run in Tris-MOPS-SDS (GenScript) running buffer at 140 volts for 50 min. Proteins were transferred into the Trans-Blot<sup>®</sup> Turbo<sup>™</sup> PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad) using Trans-Blot<sup>®</sup>Turbo<sup>™</sup> Transfer System (Bio-Rad). After the transfer, the membrane was blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk in TBST for 1 h at room temperature. After blocking, the membrane was washed in TBST three times each time for 5 min. The membrane was incubated with primary antibodies against cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1 (p21), cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK 2) and β-catenin at dilution 1:1000, tumor protein (p53) at dilution 1:3000, and cyclin D1 and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) at dilution 1:5000 overnight at 4 °C. After incubation, the membrane was washed as described above and secondary antibodies (anti-rabbit for p53 and β-catenin and anti-mouse for p21, cyclin D, CDK 2 and GAPDH) at dilution 1:5000 were incubated for 1.5 h at room temperature. Finally, the membrane was washed, saturated with Bio-Rad ClarityTM Western ECL Substrate and imaged by a C-Digit blot scanner (Li-Cor Biosciences, U.S.).



#### 2.3.10 Cell-cycle analysis by flow cytometry

The cells were fixed and stained following the previously described protocol <sup>19</sup>. Briefly, the cells were seeded in 6-well plates and treated with exosomes (60 and 250  $\mu$ g/mL) and with cisplatin and exosomes (60 µg/mL) following above described protocol. After treatment, the plates were placed on ice, and the media was removed. The cells were washed with ice-cold PBS twice. Two hundred µL of growth media was added to each well and the cells were scraped. Additional 800 µL of growth media was added to each well and cells were transferred to 1.5 mL microfuge tubes. The cells were centrifuged at 1000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C. After centrifugation, the supernatant was removed, and the cells were resuspended in 60 µL PBS. Then, 70% ethanol was added to the cell suspension drop by drop with constant vortexing. The cells were left overnight at 4 °C for fixation. After fixation, cells were centrifuged at 300 x g at room temperature, the supernatant was removed and 1 mL staining mixture containing propidium iodide and RNase was added. The cells were vortexed and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C protected from light. Cell cycle analysis was performed using MACSQuant flow cytometer and data analyzed with MACSQuantify software (Miltenyi Biotec, Somerville MA).

#### 2.3.11 Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed in at least three independent replicates. All results are expressed as mean±SD or mean±SEM. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's test was done to determine a significant difference (p<0.05) between different treatment groups using Minitab statistical software (Minitab Inc., Pennsylvania, USA).



#### 2.4 Results and discussion

#### 2.4.1 Characterization and identification of bovine milk exosomes from

#### commercially available milk

Bovine milk exosomes were isolated from commercially available milk using differential centrifugation technique. Milk exosomes were characterized by particles size distribution and surface zeta potential by dynamic light scattering. Fig 2.1A (all figures are located in the appendix) shows the average particle size of bovine exosomes was 106.8nm  $\pm$  3.427 with a polydispersity index (PDI) of 0.227  $\pm$  0.019 consistent with previously reported values  $^{17}$ . The average zeta potential was -9.88mV ±- 0.706 (Fig. 2.1B). Zeta potential is one of the important parameters that influence nanoparticle stability <sup>20</sup>. Zeta potential in this range suggests short time particle stability while zeta potential in the range from -5 mV to +5 mV would indicate a fast aggregation  $^{20}$ . For further characterization and identification, exosome lysates were prepared and analyzed using western blot for the presence of exosomal markers. As shown in Fig. 2.1C, milk exosomes were positive for ALIX, TSG101, and CD81. Despite the cell type, almost all exosomes have endosomal origin; therefore, they contain proteins implicated in membrane transport and fusion (e.g., annexins, flotillins), biosynthesis of multivesicular body (e.g. ALIX and TSG101) and processes that require heat shock proteins integrins and tetraspanins (e.g. CD63, CD 81)<sup>6</sup>. Consequently, exosomes identification has been relying heavily on the presence of exosomal proteins such as Alix, TSG101, and proteins of tetraspanin family <sup>17,21</sup>.



#### 2.4.2 Bovine milk exosomes are stable against pH changes

The effect of pH on milk exosomes has not been studied well. There is a limited number of research that have been done on the exosome's stability and quality as affected by different pH. As a potential functional food ingredient, the stability of milk exosomes over a range of pH is of crucial importance for food application. As seen in Fig 2.2A, exosomes solubility is dependent on the pH of the solution. At pH 4, milk exosomes are the least soluble. The isoelectric point of milk casein is 4.6 which may suggest that some proteins may be present in the exosome's solution and precipitate at pH close to isoelectric point of casein. Proteins are least soluble around and at isoelectric point, and as pH changes away from the isoelectric point, protein solubility increases. Bovine milk exosomes are most soluble at pH 7.4 which is close to milk pH. In a previously published letter, the results showed that when exosomes were exposed to pH 4 and pH 10, exosomes concentration decreased <sup>22</sup>. Further, Fig 2.2B shows that particle size of exosomes is also dependent on the pH of the solution. The particle size of exosomes is smallest at pH 5 (91.96nm  $\pm$  4.267) but the most uniform particle size is at pH 4 with PDI of 0.093±0.017. This would confirm that larger particles precipitate at pH 4 point leaving in the solution smaller particles with similar size including exosomes. Largest PDI (0.305  $\pm$  0.01) is at pH 6 showing that different size populations are present at this pH condition and it may suggest that at this point, the solution would not be stable. Zeta potential is an important parameter that influences the stability of nanoparticles. In Fig. 2.2C, it can be seen that surface zeta potential is also dependent on solution pH. As pH decrease, zeta potential increase and vice versa. This can be explained that proteins at lower pH are protonated making the surface more positively charged <sup>23</sup>. Zeta potential



reaches zero value at pH between 3 and 4. At this value, exosomes are least soluble, and the solution would not be stable. Exosomal protein TSG101 was detected in all different pH exosome solutions (Fig 2.2D). At these protein concentrations, ALIX and CD 81 were not detected (not shown). A reduction in TSG101 signal can be seen at pH 12. Clearly, extremely high pH values decrease exosomes quantity which is consistent with reported results <sup>22</sup>. However, even though soluble protein concentration at pH 12 remains almost not changed when compared to exosomes at pH 7.4, TSG101 concentration decrease. This suggests that proteins other than exosomal marker TSG101 may be present in isolated exosomes and these proteins are highly soluble at higher pH.

#### 2.4.3 Bovine milk exosomes resist pepsin-pancreatin hydrolysis

The application of milk exosomes as a potential functional food ingredient depends on the ability of exosomes to survive human digestion and to reach intestines and circulation in an intact form. Exosome size slightly increased (123.2nm  $\pm$  3.394) after subjecting exosomes to pepsin like-conditions with a wider particle size range (Fig 2.3A). Moreover, particle size decreased (113.5nm  $\pm$  0.167) when pepsin-digested exosomes were subjected to pancreatin part of digestion, but still, the particle size was larger than the size of non-digested exosomes (Fig 2.3A). This may be explained by structural changes in exosomes exposed to simulated pepsin digestion. However, after pepsin-pancreatin hydrolysis, the particle size range was narrower suggesting that some large particles have been partially hydrolyzed at this point. The protein concentration of pepsin and pancreatin like solution remained unaffected (data are not



shown). The effect of *in vitro* digestion on milk exosomes stability has not been extensively researched. Recently, the results of a study suggested that milk exosomes isolation was not affected by subjecting milk to *in vitro* digestion prior to the isolation and there was no difference in exosomes size, morphology and miRNA content when compared to exosomes isolated from undigested milk <sup>24</sup>. Moreover, the same study found that milk exosomes were able to pass human intestinal epithelium *in vitro* using Caco-2 cell culture suggesting that milk exosomes may be able to reach the blood circulation.

Pepsin-pancreatin hydrolysis did not affect zeta potential. However, this may be explained by non-significant changes in solution pH. After digesting exosomes with pepsin at pH 2, pepsin digestion was stopped with adjusting pH to neutral conditions (~7.5). Pepsin-pancreatin digestion was performed at the same neutral pH condition with no change in zeta potential suggesting that the pH of solution is one of the important factors that influences zeta potential. Pepsin-pancreatin digestion did reduce the signal of exosomal markers (Fig 2.3C). After the pepsin digestion, TSG101 and CD81 were detected with CD81 signal being lower than that one of TSG 101. Furthermore, after pepsin-pancreatin digestion, only TSG101 was detected. Clearly, there was a reduction in TSG101 signal when compared to the non-digested and pepsin-digested samples. The presence of TSG101 suggests that exosomes survive *in vitro* digestion.

Following *in vitro* digestion and effect of pH, exosome proteins profile was investigated by SDS-PAGE (Fig 2.3D). The most apparent bands and reduction of the same bands in hydrolyzed and exosomes exposed to low pH are seen between 25 kDa and 37kDa



which corresponds to the molecular weight of casein proteins <sup>25</sup>. Also, a slight reduction at pH 2, pH 3 and pH 4can be seen at 75kDa band. In the previous study of human milk exosomes, bands in this range were suggested to be related to protein lactoferrin which is also abundant in bovine milk and has been found to have antibacterial, immunomodulatory and anti-cancer activity <sup>11,26</sup>. Even though there is a reduction in the appearance of some bands, clearly some proteins are still present even after complete pepsin-pancreatin digestion suggesting that exosomes are resistant to simulated digestive conditions.

## 2.4.4 Bovine milk exosomes affect proliferation and have a protective effect on cisplatin treated RAW 264.7 cells

Macrophages are cells of the immune system involved in the first line of defense during infection <sup>27</sup>. In Fig 2.4A, treatment with bovine milk exosomes increases proliferation of RAW 264.7 cells in a dose-dependent manner. Treatment with 15, 30, and 60 µg/mL bovine exosomes significantly increased proliferation when compared to untreated macrophages. At 250 µg/mL, macrophage proliferation was significantly increased by 49.7% when compared to untreated cells. Interestingly, the proliferation of RAW 264.7 was not accompanied by activation of the cells since nitric oxide, and proinflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6) were not produced (data not shown). The effect of different compounds on inflammatory responses and activation of RAW 264.7 have been widely researched. Mostly, these research papers focus on compounds that are capable of activating RAW 264.7 while inducing nitric oxide and cytokine production (pro-inflammatory) or alleviating inflammatory responses (anti-inflammatory)<sup>28,29</sup>. Our results



showed for the first time that food-derived compounds, such as bovine milk exosomes, can influence macrophage proliferation.

Further, when cells were co-treated with exosomes and cisplatin (5 µM), treatment with exosomes increases macrophage cell survival indicating a protective effect of bovine milk exosomes against cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity as shown in Fig 2.4B. At a concentration of 250 µg/mL exosomes, the cell survival of 95.3% was significantly increased when compared to the survival of 81.2% when cells were treated with cisplatin only. The proliferation of macrophages as well as the potential cytotoxic effect of chemotherapeutic drugs such as cisplatin is not well studied. Cisplatin is a chemotherapeutic drug that binds to DNA and prevents its repair causing cells to go to apoptosis <sup>30</sup>. However, cisplatin, as majority of other chemotherapeutic drugs, is not a selective agent meaning it does not distinguish between healthy and cancer cells. Protective effect of bovine milk exosomes may contribute to a better understanding of how to protect normal cells from the cytotoxic effect of chemotherapeutic drugs.

# 2.4.5 Bovine milk exosomes affect proliferation markers (proteins) in RAW 264. 7 cells

Proliferation markers such as p21 and p53 play an important role not only in cell proliferation and cell cycle but also in the immune response in macrophage cells <sup>31,32</sup>. Fig 2.5 shows a dose-dependent effect of bovine milk exosomes treatment on proliferation markers in RAW 264.7 cells. In our study, exosomes treatment with 60 and 250 µg/mL significantly increased  $\beta$ -catenin expression by 42.5% and 40.8%, respectively, when compared to untreated macrophages.  $\beta$ -catenin is a protein involved



in multiple functions including development, tissue homeostasis, cell renewal, adhesion and cell signaling <sup>33</sup>. Recently, the role of  $\beta$ -catenin in infections and immune cells was investigated. In a couple of studies, the role of  $\beta$ -catenin in the immune system cells susceptibility to different bacterial and viral agents was investigated <sup>34,35</sup>. In the abovementioned study, overexpression of β-catenin in Pseudomonas aeruginosa infected RAW 264.7 cells promoted bacterial elimination with no effect on NO and ROS production <sup>34</sup>. In addition, investigators found that an increased level of  $\beta$ -catenin in monocytes when compared to monocyte-derived macrophages suppressed HIV replication suggesting that  $\beta$ -catenin plays an in important role in HIV replication <sup>35</sup>. Bovine milk exosomes increased p53 expression in RAW 264.7 in a dose-dependent manner with 250 µg/mL exosome treatment significantly increasing p53 expression by 2-fold when compared to negative control. The p53 protein has a vital role in cell proliferation by repairing DNA and inducing apoptosis when DNA damage is too serious to be repaired <sup>36</sup>. Also, a frequent p53 mutation in cancer cells makes this protein as a potential target in normal cells that would prevent them from the killing effect of chemotherapeutic drugs <sup>16</sup>. Increased expression of p53 protects normal cells from the cytotoxic effect of chemotherapeutic drugs <sup>16</sup> is consistent with our observation that bovine milk exosomes protected macrophages against cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity. Moreover, in one study, transient overexpression of p53 in RAW 264.7 significantly reduced Listeria monocytogenes invasion when compared to control cells. In vivo results from the same study confirmed that knocking out p53 expression accelerated and increased lethality in mice <sup>32</sup>.



Bovine milk exosomes also significantly affected p21 expression (Fig 2.5). At a concentration of 250 µg/mL, p21 expression was significantly increased by 66.8%. p21 is transcriptionally regulated by p53 and it has numerous functions in the cell cycle and apoptosis. For instance, overexpression of p21 in several cell type can protect cells from apoptosis <sup>37</sup>. Also, in a previous study, the role of p21 in LPS-stimulated peritoneal macrophage was investigated and the results showed that deletion of p21 was accompanied by an increase in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1β<sup>31</sup>. While CDK-2 expression levels in RAW 264. 7 cells were not significantly affected by exosomes treatment (p=0.08), cyclin D1 expression was significantly affected. It can be seen that bovine milk exosomes treatment reduced the expression of cyclin D1 in a dose-dependent manner where treatment with 60 µg/mL and 250 µg/mL reduced the expression by 36.2% and 51.8% respectively when compared to untreated cells. Cyclin D1 is one of the regulators of the cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase and its quick degradation is required for cells to move from G<sub>1</sub> to S phase <sup>38</sup>. Also, in a previous study, the results showed that Bac1.2F5 macrophages treated with IFN-y showed an increased level of cyclin D1 resulting in blocking macrophage proliferation <sup>39</sup>. A decrease in the expression of cyclin D1 upon treatment of exosomes may play an important role in the proliferation of macrophages making cells progress to the next phase in the cell cycle.



# 2.4.6 Milk bovine exosomes affect the cell cycle of RAW 264.7 with and without cisplatin

Fig 2.6 shows the effect of bovine milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 proliferation cell cycle with or without cisplatin treatment. Exosomes treatment affected the proliferation of the cells in a dose-dependent manner. In the absence of cisplatin (Fig 2.6A), the number of apoptotic cells when macrophages were treated with exosomes was significantly reduced by 37.9% and 53.35% when cell treated with 60µg/mL and 250 µg/mL respectively although there was no significant difference between the two exosomes concentrations. Also, the reduction of cells by 10.7% can be seen in the G0/G1 phase of the cell cycle when cells are treated with 250 µg/mL exosomes. The exosomes treatment arrest cells in S and G2/M phase. In the S phase, 250 µg/mL exosomes treatment increased the number of cells by 16.0%, while in G2/M phase the cell number increased by 47.9%. To our knowledge, there have been only very few research conducted on RAW 264.7 cell cycle. One of the papers was investigating how Salmonella infection affects the cell cycle in RAW 264.7<sup>40</sup>. In a study of the effect of riboflavin deprivation in RAW 264.7, when cells were deprived of riboflavin, the results showed a decrease in the S and G2/M phase <sup>41</sup>. On the other hand, another study reported that cypermethrin treatment increased the percentage of the cells in G1; therefore, inducing death by arresting cells in this phase <sup>42</sup>. Our results indicate that an increase in proliferation is accompanied by an increase in S and G2/M phase. When RAW 264.7 cells were treated with exosomes and cisplatin (5  $\mu$ M), exosomes treatment (60 µg/mL) reduced the number of pre-apoptotic cells by 17.4% when compared to the cells treated with cisplatin only (Fig 2.6B). Cisplatin treatment arrests



the cells in pre-apoptotic phase. Moreover, exosomes treatment in the presence of cisplatin reduced the number of cells in the G0/G1 phase by 35.9% when compared to the cells treated with cisplatin only. Arrest in G2/M phase was seen in the cells treated with exosomes and cisplatin with an increase in the number of cells by 28.5%.

#### 2.5 Conclusion

Our study found that commercially available milk exosomes resist *in vitro* digestion and pH change. Moreover, this is the first report on how bovine milk exosomes affected proliferation of macrophages, an important component of our immune system. Bovine milk exosomes also protected macrophages against cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity by affecting the expression of proteins involved in cell cycle and proliferation. Further research is needed to better understand the role of bovine milk exosomes and their effect on human health.



#### References

- Haug A, Høstmark AT, Harstad OM. Bovine milk in human nutrition a review.
   Lipids in Health and Disease. 2007;6:1-16. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-6-25
- 2. Gill HS, Doull F, Rutherfurd KJ, Cross ML. Immunoregulatory peptides in bovine milk. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2000;84(2000):111-117.
- 3. Shin K, Wakabayashi H, Yamauchi K, et al. Effects of orally administered bovine lactoferrin and lactoperoxidase on influenza virus infection in mice. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*. 2005;54:717-723. doi:10.1099/jmm.0.46018-0
- Turin CG, Alonso AZ, Karen P. Lactoferrin for prevention of neonatal sepsis.
   *Biometals*. 2014;27:1007-1016. doi:10.1007/s10534-014-9754-3
- Yoo J, Lee J, Lee Y, Ku S, Lee H. Protective effect of bovine milk against HCl and ethanol – induced gastric ulcer in mice. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 2018;101:3758-3770. doi:10.3168/jds.2017-13872
- Vlassov A V, Magdaleno S, Setterquist R, Conrad R. Exosomes : Current knowledge of their composition , biological functions , and diagnostic and therapeutic potentials. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 2012;1820(7):940-948. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.03.017
- Niel G Van, Angelo GD, Raposo G. Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. *Nature Reviews*. 2018;19:213-228. doi:10.1038/nrm.2017.125
- Sharma P, Schiapparelli L, Cline HT. ScienceDirect Exosomes function in cell cell communication during brain circuit development. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. 23(6):997-1004. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2013.08.005



- 9. Yuana Y, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Extracellular vesicles in physiological and pathological conditions. *Blood Reviews*. 2013;27:31-39.
- Mu J, Zhuang X, Wang Q, et al. Interspecies communication between plant and mouse gut host cells through edible plant derived exosome-like nanoparticles. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*. 2014;58(7):1561-1573. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201300729
- 11. Liao Y, Du X, Li J, Lönnerdal B. Human milk exosomes and their microRNAs survive digestion in vitro and are taken up by human intestinal cells. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*. 2017;61(11):1-11. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201700082
- 12. Arntz OJ, Pieters BCH, Oliveira MC, et al. Oral administration of bovine milk derived extracellular vesicles attenuates arthritis in two mouse models. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*. 2015;59:1701-1712. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201500222
- Izumi H, Tsuda M, Sato Y, Kosaka N, Ochiya T, Iwamoto H. Bovine milk exosomes contain microRNA and mRNA and are taken up by human macrophages. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 2015;98:2920-2933. doi:10.3168/jds.2014-9076
- Pieters BCH, Arntz OJ, Bennink MB, Broeren MGA, Arjan P. Commercial Cow
   Milk Contains Physically Stable Extracellular Vesicles Expressing
   Immunoregulatory TGF- β. *PLOS One*. 2015;10(3):1-14.
   doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0121123
- 15. Montano M. MicroRNAs: miRRORS of health and disease. *Translational Research*. 2011;157(4):157-162. doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2011.02.001
- 16. Cheok CF. Protecting normal cells from the cytotoxicity of chemotherapy. Cell



*Cycle*. 2012;11:2227-2228.

- 17. Munagala R, Aqil F, Jeyabalan J, Gupta RC. Bovine milk-derived exosomes for drug delivery. *Cancer Letters*. 2016;371:48-61. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.020
- Price SJ, Pangloli P, Dia VP. Pepsin-pancreatin hydrolysis reduced the ability of lunasin-enriched material to inhibit activation of the inflammasomes in THP-1 human macrophages. *Food and Function*. 2017;8:4449-4458. doi:10.1039/c7fo00992e
- Distelhorst CW. Apoptosis. *Methods in Molecular Biology*. 2009;559:433-454.
   doi:10.1201/9781420038231
- Honary S, Zahir F. Effect of Zeta Potential on the Properties of Nano-Drug Delivery Systems - A Review (Part 2). *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*. 2013;12:265-273.
- 21. Mathivanan S, Simpson RJ. ExoCarta : A compendium of exosomal proteins and RNA. *Proteomics*. 2009;9:4997-5000. doi:10.1002/pmic.200900351
- 22. Editor D. Effect of pH, temperature and freezing-thawing on quantity changes and cellular uptake of exosomes. *Protein and Cell*. 2018:1-5. doi:10.1007/s13238-018-0529-4
- Smith MC, Crist RM, Clogston JD, Mcneil SE. Zeta potential : a case study of cationic , anionic , and neutral liposomes. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*. 2017;409:5779-5787. doi:10.1007/s00216-017-0527-z
- 24. Rani P, Vashisht M, Golla N, Shandilya S, Onteru SK, Singh D. Milk miRNAs encapsulated in exosomes are stable to human digestion and permeable to intestinal barrier in vitro. *Journal of Functional Foods*. 2017;34:431-439.



doi:10.1016/j.jff.2017.05.009

- Patrick W, Hans S, Angelika P. Determination of the Bovine Food Allergen Casein in White Wines by Quantitative Indirect ELISA, SDS-PAGE, Western Blot and Immunostaining. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 2009;57(18):8399-8405. doi:10.1021/jf9013982
- Giansanti F, Panella G, Leboffe L, Antonini G. Lactoferrin from Milk : Nutraceutical and Pharmacological Properties. *Pharmaceutical*. 2016;9:1-15. doi:10.3390/ph9040061
- 27. Romo MR. Innate immunity in vertebrates : an overview. *Immunology*.2016;148:125-139. doi:10.1111/imm.12597
- Zhang W, Yan J, Wu L, Yu Y, Ye RD, Zhang Y. In vitro immunomodulatory e ff ects of human milk oligosaccharides on murine macrophage RAW264 . 7 cells. *Carbohydrate Polymers*. 2019;207(November 2018):230-238. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.11.039
- Dia VP, Wang W, Oh VL, Lumen BO De, Mejia EG De. Isolation , purification and characterisation of lunasin from defatted soybean flour and in vitro evaluation of its anti-inflammatory activity. *Food Chemistry*. 2009;114(1):108-115. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.09.023
- 30. Manuscript A. Cisplatin in cancer therapy : molecular mechanisms of action.
   *European Journal of Pharmacology*. 2015;740:364-378.
   doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.07.025.Cisplatin
- 31. Garci I, Trakala M, Arias CF, et al. Regulation of macrophage activation and septic shock. *Europian Journal of Immunology*. 2009;39:810-819.



doi:10.1002/eji.200838676

- Wang S, Liu P, Wei J, Zhu Z, Shi Z, Shao D. Tumor suppressor p53 protects mice against Listeria monocytogenes infection. *Nature Publishing Group*. 2016;6(April):1-11. doi:10.1038/srep33815
- Valenta T, Hausmann G, Basler K. The many faces and functions of b -catenin.
   *The EMBO Journal*. 2012;31(12):2714-2736. doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.150
- Fu Q, Chen K, Zhu Q, et al. b -catenin promotes intracellular bacterial killing via suppression of Pseudomonas aeruginosa -triggered macrophage autophagy. *Journal of International Medical Research*. 2017;45:556-569. doi:10.1177/0300060517692147
- Aljawai Y, Richards MH, Seaton MS, Narasipura SD, Al-harthi L. β -Catenin / TCF-4 Signaling Regulates Susceptibility of Macrophages and Resistance of Monocytes to HIV-1 Productive Infection. *Current HIV Research*. 2014;12:164-173.
- Wawryk-gawda E, Chyli P, Lis-sochocka M. P53 protein in proliferation, repair and apoptosis of cells. *Protoplasma*. 2014;251:525-533. doi:10.1007/s00709-013-0548-1
- Hodeify R, Tarcsafalvi A, Megyesi J, Safirstein RL, Price PM. Cdk2-dependent phosphorylation of p21 regulates the role of Cdk2 in cisplatin cytotoxicity. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*. 2011;300:1171-1179. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00507.2010.
- 38. Alao JP. The regulation of cyclin D1 degradation : roles in cancer development and the potential for therapeutic invention. *Molecular Cancer*. 2007;6:1-16.



doi:10.1186/1476-4598-6-24

- Dey A, Li W. Cell cycle-independent induction of D1 and D2 cyclin expression , but not cyclin ^ Cdk complex formation or Rb phosphorylation , by IFN Q in macrophages. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 2000;1497:135-147.
- Zhao Y, Gorvel J. Effector proteins support the asymmetric apportioning of Salmonella during cytokinesis. *Virulence*. 2016;7(6):669-678. doi:10.1080/21505594.2016.1173298
- 41. Mazur-bialy AI, Buchala B, Plytycz B. Riboflavin deprivation inhibits macrophage viability and activity a study on the RAW 264 . 7 cell line. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2013;110:509-514. doi:10.1017/S0007114512005351
- Huang F, Liu Q, Xie S, et al. Cypermethrin Induces Macrophages Death through Cell Cycle Arrest and Oxidative Stress-Mediated JNK / ERK Signaling Regulated Apoptosis. *International Journal of Molecular Science*. 2016;17:1-13. doi:10.3390/ijms17060885



### Appendix



Figure 2.1. Characterization of milk exosomes by particle size distribution (A) and zeta potential (B). Identification of milk exosomes by western blot analysis on exosomal markers ALIX, TSG101, and CD81 (C).





Figure 2.2. Stability of exosomes at different pH values presented as solubility of milk exosome proteins over a range of pH values (A), particle size distribution with PDI (B), surface zeta potential (C) and detection of exosomal protein TSG101 (D). Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (A, B, and C).





Figure 2.3. Effect of simulated pepsin-pancreatin digestion on size (A), and zeta potential of milk exosomes (B), the presence of exosmal proteins ALIX, TSG101 and CD81 (C), and the effect of pH and pepsin-pancreatin hydrolysis on the protein profile using SDS-PAGE (D). Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (B).





Figure 2.3 continued. Effect of simulated pepsin-pancreatin digestion on size (A), and zeta potential of milk exosomes (B), the presence of exosmal proteins ALIX, TSG101 and CD81 (C), and the effect of pH and pepsin-pancreatin hydrolysis on the protein profile using SDS-PAGE (D). Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (B).





**(B)** 



Figure 2.4. Effect of milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 proliferation without (A) and with cisplatin (B). Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p<0.05).




Figure 2.5. Effect of milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 expression of proliferation proteins  $\beta$ - catenin, p53, p21, CDK2 and cyclin D1 (A). Western blot on proliferation markers  $\beta$ - catenin, p53, p21, CDK2 and cyclin D1. GAPDH shown present housekeeping protein (B). Results are presented as mean ± SE (A). Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p<0.05).

59



www.manaraa.com



**(B)** 



Figure 2.6. Cell-cycle of RAW 264.7 cell treated with bovine milk exosomes without (A) and with cisplatin (B). Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (A). Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p<0.05).



### CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECT OF BOVINE MILK EXOSOMES ON THE PROLIFERATION OF RAW 264.7 CELLS UNDER HYPOXIA



#### 3.1 Abstract

Exosomes are extracellular vesicles implicated in cell-to-cell communication and their secretion has been documented in almost all types of cells. The objective of this study was to isolate exosomes from commercially available milk and investigate its effect in RAW 264.7 cells under hypoxia. Exosomes were isolated from commercially available skim milk using differential centrifugation and their presence was identified by particle size and exosomal markers TSG101, CD81, and ALIX. The effect of bovine milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 cells under hypoxia was investigated by assessing proliferation, cytokine and ROS production, and cell cycle. Moreover, the hypoxia marker HIF-1 $\alpha$  and proliferation markers p53 and p21 were assessed by western blot. The average size of exosomes was  $152.2 \text{ nm} \pm 4.25$  measured by dynamic light scattering method. Exosomes treatment increased the cell viability under hypoxia when compared to untreated cells. ROS production was significantly reduced with exosomes treatment (p<0.05). The production of TNF- $\alpha$  was not affected by hypoxia alone but increased in a dose-dependent manner in cells treated with exosomes under hypoxic condition. Hypoxia arrested cells in the G0/G1 phase whereas exosome treatment reduced the cell in this phase. However, there was no effect on the expression of HIF-1α, p53, and p21. Our study found that bovine milk exosomes affect the proliferation of RAW 264.7 cell under hypoxia and are able to reverse the adverse effects of hypoxia on cell viability.



#### **3.2 Introduction**

Hypoxia is a condition that is characterized by low oxygen concentrations caused by the low blood supply to the body's tissue. Not all forms of hypoxia are deleterious to body tissue. In some cells and tissue, such as intestinal epithelial cells, low oxygen concentrations are considered physiological, hence the term physiological hypoxia <sup>1</sup>. However, when an environment of low oxygen causes the impaired function of the cells and tissues, hypoxia can become pathological. Often, the reduction of blood supply and consequent low oxygen concentrations can be seen in the inflamed and injured tissue. This is due to the inability of blood vesicles to grow and supply oxygen to the growing affected tissue caused by infiltration of the cells <sup>2</sup>. Consequently, hypoxia may cause immune cell impairment and dysfunction.

Macrophages are the cells of the innate immune system and their primary function is phagocytosis. They exist in our body in two different forms: tissue-resident and monocyte-derived macrophages <sup>3</sup>. When a pathogen gets sensed, one of the functions of the tissue-resident macrophage is to start initiating inflammatory response <sup>4</sup>. In an environment of low oxygen tension, which is often seen in inflammation, macrophages upregulate some genes in order to perform their function in hypoxic environment. Hypoxia-inducible factor family is one of the genes that is upregulated in low oxygen conditions and upregulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  is implicated in hypoxia-induced apoptosis <sup>5,6</sup>. Furthermore, when macrophage cells were infected with *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus* and exposed to hypoxic conditions, the ability of macrophages to eliminate these two pathogens was significantly reduced even though these pathogens are readily killed by macrophages under normoxic conditions <sup>7</sup>.



Consequently, hypoxia and its effect on the cells of the immune system have been extensively investigated and alternative ways such as the application of bioactive food compounds in lessening the effects of hypoxia have been a novel approach. Exosomes are extracellular vesicles with sizes ranging from 50-150nm <sup>8</sup>. Their synthesis and secretion have been well documented in almost all types of cells <sup>9</sup>. Lately, the presence and isolation of exosomes from different foods including milk and edible plants and their effect on human health have been investigated <sup>10,11</sup>. It has been documented that bovine milk exosomes contain miRNAs that are resistant to *in vitro* digestion and are taken up by the human macrophage cell line THP-1 <sup>12,13</sup>. Moreover, in a recently published study, bovine milk exosome treatment prevented the development of necrotizing enterocolitis *in vivo* <sup>14</sup>.

The effect of food derived exosomes on hypoxia-induced changes has not been extensively investigated. Moreover, a recently published study found that bovine milk exosomes increased the proliferation of intestinal epithelial cells *in vitro* under hypoxia <sup>15</sup>. Therefore, the objective of this study was to isolate bovine milk exosomes from commercially available milk and investigate its effect on the proliferation of murine-like macrophages RAW 264.7 under hypoxic conditions.

#### 3.3 Materials and methods

#### 3.3.1 Materials

Murine macrophage RAW 264.7 cell line was purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Growth media DMEM 1X was purchased from Corning Inc. (Corning, NY). Fetal bovine serum (FBS) was purchased from Life Technologies



(Carlsbad, CA). Primary antibodies (p53 10442-1-AP, p21 60214-1-Ig, HIF-1α 20960-1-AP, and GAPDH 60004-1-Ig) were purchased from Proteintech (Rosemont, IL). Secondary antibodies (goat anti-mouse and goat anti-rabbit) were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA).

## 3.3.2 Isolation and characterization of bovine milk exosomes and particle size analysis

Exosomes were isolated from commercially available fat-free milk by differential centrifugation under sterile conditions following previously described protocol with some modifications<sup>16</sup>. Briefly, milk was centrifuged at 13,000 x g at 4 °C for 30 min in 250-mL centrifuge bottles using SS-34 rotor and SORVALL® RC-5B PLUS centrifuge. The whey was collected, transferred into polycarbonate 26.3-mL Beckman centrifuge tubes, and centrifuged at 100,000 x g at 4 °C for 60 min in Type 50.2 Ti rotor using Optima XL-80K Ultracentrifuge (Beckman Coulter, Inc.). The final supernatant was collected, transferred to 26.3-mL centrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 135,000 x g at 4 °C for 90 min. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was washed with PBS twice. The exosome pellet was collected and resuspended in PBS. The protein concentration of exosomes was determined by Pierce <sup>™</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL U.S.A). Exosomes were diluted to 1 mg/mL concentration for particle size and zeta potential analysis. The size and zeta potential were measured by Zetasizer (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Malvern, Worcestershire, UK). Exosomal marker TSG101, CD81, and ALIX were determined by western blot. Isolated exosomes were sterile filtered through 0.22 µm filters and stored at -80 °C until further use.



#### 3.3.3 Cell culture and cell proliferation assay

Murine macrophages RAW 264.7 were cultured in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin and at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> until confluency. For proliferation assay, 5 X 10<sup>3</sup> cells/well were seeded into a 96-well plate in the total volume of 200  $\mu$ L and incubated overnight to attach at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Then, the cells were treated with different exosomes concentration (0, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g/mL) and placed in a hypoxia chamber for 24 h. The composition of the gas in the hypoxia chamber was 94% N<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 1% O<sub>2</sub>. Untreated cells were incubated under normoxia. After the treatment, the growth media was replaced with 100  $\mu$ L fresh plain growth media containing 10% MTS (Promesa, Madison WI) reagent and incubated for 3 h under normoxia. The absorbance was read at 490 nm and the percent of viable cells was calculated with respect to untreated cells under normoxia.

#### 3.3.4 Whole cell lysate preparation and supernatant collection

Briefly, 2 X  $10^5$  cells/well were seeded into a 6-well plate in the total volume adjusted to 2 mL and incubated overnight to attach at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After overnight incubation, the cells were treated with 0, 100 and 200 µg/mL exosomes and placed in a hypoxia chamber containing 94% N<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 1% O<sub>2</sub> for 24h. Untreated cells were incubated under normoxia. After 24h of treatment, the 6-well plates were placed on ice and the growth media was collected for cytokine analysis. The cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS to remove cell debris. After washing, 100 µL radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer containing 1% protease inhibitor complex was added to each well and incubated for 5 min. Cells were harvested by scraping and transferred to 1.5



mL microfuge tubes and vortexed at 14, 000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was collected, and protein concentration was measured using Bradford reagent and BSA as the standard. The supernatant was mixed with Laemmli buffer containing 5%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol in equal volumes and boiled for 5 min. The samples were stored in -80 °C until use.

#### 3.3.5 Production of ROS by flow cytometry

Briefly, RAW 264.7 cells were seeded, treated and incubated in the 6-well plates under normoxia and hypoxia following the above-mentioned protocol. After treatment, the plates were placed on ice and the media was removed. The cells were washed with icecold PBS twice. Two hundred  $\mu$ L of growth media was added to each well and the cells were scraped. Additional 800  $\mu$ L of growth media was added to each well and cells were transferred to 1.5 mL microfuge tubes. The cells were centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C. After centrifugation, the supernatant was removed, and the cells were resuspended in 1 mL PBS. The cells were again centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C and supernatant was removed. Finally, the cells were resuspended in 500  $\mu$ L PBS containing 10  $\mu$ M 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate and incubated at 37 °C for 30 min in a CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. The number of cells with green fluorescence was measured using the FL 1 channel of a MACSQuant flow cytometer and data was analyzed with MACSQuantify software (Miltenyi Biotec, Somerville MA).



# 3.3.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for measurement cytokine production (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- $\alpha$ )

Production of IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10 and TNF-α was measured using commercially available ELISA kits (BioLegend, San Diego CA). The cytokine detection was performed using the supernatant collected after the cell treatment with exosomes. Briefly, uncoated plates were incubated with capture antibodies overnight at 4 °C. After incubation, the plates were washed with washing buffer 4 times and blocked with assay diluent for 1 h with shaking at room temperature. After blocking, the plates were washed, and standards and samples were plated and incubated with shaking at room temperature for 2 h. The plates were washed after the sample incubation and detection antibodies were added and incubated for 1 h with shaking after which the plates were washed and the avidin-HRP solution was added and incubated for 30 min with shaking. Finally, after washing, the substrate solution was added and incubated in the dark for 15 or 20 min. The stop solution was added, and absorbance was read at 450 nm. The concentration of cytokines was calculated based on the standard curve for each cytokine.

### 3.3.7 Western blot for hypoxia marker HIF-1α and proliferation proteins p21 and p53

Approximately, the 10 µg of proteins of the cell lysate was loaded in 8-16% SurePAGE (GenScript) gels. The gel electrophoresis was run in Tris-MOPS-SDS (GenScript) running buffer at 140 volts for 50 min. Proteins were transferred into the Trans-Blot<sup>®</sup> Turbo<sup>™</sup> PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad) using Trans-Blot<sup>®</sup>Turbo<sup>™</sup> Transfer System (Bio-Rad). After the transfer, the membrane was blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk in TBST



for 1 h at room temperature. After blocking, the membrane was washed in TBST three times for 5 min each. The membrane was incubated with primary antibodies against cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1 (p21) at dilution 1:1000, tumor protein (p53) at dilution 1:3000, hypoxia-inducible factor-1 $\alpha$  (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) at 1:1000 dilution and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (house-keeping protein; for normalization of data) at dilution 1:5000 overnight at 4 °C. After incubation, the membrane was washed as described above and secondary antibodies (anti-rabbit for p53 and HIF-1 $\alpha$  and anti-mouse for p21 and GAPDH) at dilution 1:5000 were incubated for 1.5 h at room temperature. Finally, the membrane was washed, saturated with Bio-Rad ClarityTM Western ECL Substrate and imaged by a C-Digit blot scanner (Li-Cor Biosciences, U.S.).

#### 3.3.8 Cell-cycle analysis by flow cytometry

The cells were fixed and stained following the previously described protocol <sup>17</sup>. Briefly, the cells were seeded in 6-well plates and treated with exosomes (0, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g/mL) under hypoxia following above-described conditions. Also, untreated cells were incubated under normoxia. After treatment, the plates were placed on ice and the media was removed. The cells were washed with ice-cold PBS twice. Two hundred  $\mu$ L of growth media was added to each well and the cells were scraped. Additional 800  $\mu$ L of growth media was added to each well and cells were transferred to 1.5 mL microfuge tubes. The cells were centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C. After centrifugation, the supernatant was removed, and the cells were resuspended in 60  $\mu$ L PBS. Then, 70% ethanol was added to the cell suspension drop by drop with constant vortexing. The



cells were left overnight at 4 °C for fixation. After fixation, cells were centrifuged at 300 x g at room temperature, the supernatant was removed and 1 mL staining mixture containing propidium iodide and RNase was added. The cells were vortexed and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C protected from light. Cell cycle analysis was performed using MACSQuant flow cytometer and data analyzed with MACSQuantify software (Miltenyi Biotec, Somerville MA).

#### 3.3.9 Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed in at least three independent replicates. All results were expressed as mean±SD or mean±SEM. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's test was done to determine a significant difference (p<0.05) between different treatment groups using Minitab statistical software (Minitab Inc., Pennsylvania, USA)

#### 3.4 Results and discussion

# 3.4.1 Identification of bovine milk exosomes isolated from commercially available milk using particle size

Bovine milk exosomes were isolated from commercially available milk. The particle size distribution was measured using a dynamic light scattering method. As shown in Fig 3.1, the average particle size of milk exosomes was  $152.2 \text{ nm} \pm 4.25$  which is consistant with the literature <sup>18</sup>. Polydispersity index (PDI) was  $0.289 \pm 0.024$ . In the previously mentioned article, the size of bovine milk exosomes depends on the maturation stage of milk <sup>18</sup>. Mature milk has a larger particle size distribution when compared with exosomes isolated from colostrum. In addition, the amount of exosomal miRNA isolated



from commercially available milk did not significantly differ from the amount of exosomal miRNA from raw milk suggesting that standard heat treatment does not affect exosomes <sup>10</sup>. The average zeta potential of bovine milk exosomes was -10.9 mV ± 0.834 which would suggest short-term stability. Furthermore, the stability of exosomes also depends on storage conditions, pH and thaw-freeze cycles <sup>19</sup>. Consequently, the refrigeration temperatures are not recommended for long-term storage and can reduce exosomal proteins and RNA <sup>20</sup>. Bovine milk exosomes isolated from commercially available milk were positive for exosomal markers ALIX, TSG101 and CD81 (Fig 3.2). The identification of exosomes has been relying on the presence of ALIX, TSG101 and CD81 <sup>16</sup>.

# 3.4.2 Bovine milk exosomes increased the proliferation of RAW 264.7 cell under hypoxia

Macrophages are fast acting phagocytic cells of innate immune system <sup>21</sup>. In Fig 3.3, exosomes treatment significantly increased the proliferation of RAW 264.7 cells when compared to untreated cells under hypoxia. The cell viability decreased by 27% when untreated cells were incubated under hypoxia compared to untreated cells incubated under normal oxygen conditions. Moreover, exosomes treatment at 100 and 200 µg/mL significantly increased the cells proliferation by 27.9% and 32.6%, respectively. The results showed that exosomes treatment reversed the anti-proliferative effect of hypoxia in macrophages and macrophage proliferation when treated with exosomes under hypoxia is the same as proliferation of macrophages in normoxia. The macrophage cells exist in two states: tissue-resident and monocyte-derived macrophages <sup>3</sup>. Since they



are the cells of innate immunity, they are the first line of defense when an infection happens. Often, in the case of inflamed and damaged tissue, the levels of oxygen may decrease which may cause a decrease in macrophage function and finally apoptosis <sup>22</sup>. Decreased function or apoptosis can lead to a reduced ability of macrophages to fight an infection. Furthermore, to our knowledge, this is the first report on the effect of bovine milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 cell proliferation under hypoxia. In a recently published article, bovine milk exosomes and yak milk exosomes increased the cell survival of mouse small intestine epithelial cells (IEC-6) under hypoxia conditions <sup>15</sup>. Moreover, in the same article, both yak and bovine milk exosomes were taken up by IEC-6 in both normoxic and hypoxic conditions.

### 3.4.3 Bovine milk exosomes reduced production of ROS in RAW 264.7 cell under hypoxic conditions

Reactive oxygen species are generated under oxidative stress. The oxidative stress may be defined as an imbalance between free radicals and antioxidants <sup>23</sup>. In our study, hypoxia caused a significant 4- fold ROS reduction in untreated cells when compared to the untreated cell under normoxic conditions (Figure 3.4). Furthermore, the exosome treatment significantly reduced the ROS production when compared to untreated cells in hypoxic conditions. However, there was no significant difference in ROS production between the cell treated with 100  $\mu$ g/mL and 200  $\mu$ g/mL exosomes. It is still controversial whether hypoxic conditions increase ROS production. Our findings are not consistent with current literature <sup>24,25</sup>. For instance, when RAW 264.7 cells were incubated in hypoxic conditions (1% O<sub>2</sub>) for 20 h, there was a significant increase in



ROS production when compared to the cell incubated in normoxic conditions <sup>24</sup> and when RAW 264.7 cells were grown under hypoxia (0.5% O<sub>2</sub>) for 10 h, there was a significant increase in ROS production when compared to the cells grown under normoxia <sup>25</sup>. Consequently, differences in exposure time and oxygen concentrations may have affected the production of ROS.

Cellular hypoxia is more defined as a state of reductive stress where reducing equivalents such as NADH and FADH<sub>2</sub> build up if oxygen is not available <sup>23</sup>. Moreover, the buildup of reducing equivalents makes the electrons more available to reduce the available oxygen to superoxide. However, even if reducing equivalents are available, the formation of ROS is not possible when oxygen is not present <sup>26</sup>. It was reported that the formation of ROS depends on constant cycles of anoxia and reoxygenation <sup>26</sup>. Another study repeated that reoxygenation increased the formation of ROS in RAW 264.7 cell with fast reoxygenation producing more ROS when compared to slow reoxygenation <sup>24</sup>. In our study, we have seen a decrease in ROS when the cells were exposed to hypoxia and it may be due to exposing the cells to hypoxia for a longer period of time where no more available oxygen was present to produce ROS. Moreover, ROS are very short-living molecules with unpaired electrons that are transformed and eliminated in the variety of cellular processes <sup>27</sup>. The reduction in ROS generation in our study may be explained by possible transformation or elimination of ROS over a prolonged period under hypoxia when reoxygenation was not present.



#### 3.4.4 Bovine milk exosomes increased TNF-α in RAW 264.7 under hypoxia

Production of TNF-α was increased in the cells treated with exosomes under hypoxia in a dose-dependent manner (Fig 3.5). When the cells were treated with 100 µg/mL and 200 µg/mL exosomes, the concentration of TNF-α was 90.8 pg/mL and 172.4 pg/mL respectively. However, there was no significant difference in the TNF-α concentration between untreated cell under hypoxia when compared to the untreated cell under normoxia. Clearly, hypoxia itself was not enough to affect TNF-α production in RAW 264.7 cells which is consistent with the literature where TNF-α was not induced in RAW 264.7 cells in hypoxic conditions even after 48 h <sup>28</sup>. TNF-α is a proinflammatory cytokine that plays an important role in host defense against pathogens <sup>29</sup>. Previously published study found that the treatment with human TNF-α increased the resistance against *Listeria* infection in *in vivo* mouse model <sup>30</sup>. Immunomodulatory effect of bovine milk exosomes in RAW 264.7 cells under hypoxia that was observed in our study may have a beneficial effect in fighting an infection in a low oxygen environment. IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-10 were not affected by hypoxia and exosome treatment.

**3.4.5 Bovine milk exosomes did not affect the expression of HIF-1** $\alpha$ , p21 and p53 As shown in Fig 3.6, HIF-1 $\alpha$ , p21, and p53 were not affected by hypoxia or exosomes treatment under hypoxia. Although a low oxygen environment is considered to be on the most important factors of HIF-1 $\alpha$  expressions, there is evidence that prolonged hypoxia may decrease expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$ <sup>31</sup>. In the previously mentioned study, when the human lung adenocarcinoma cells (A549) were exposed to 0.5%O<sub>2</sub> for 12 h, HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression significantly decreased when compared to the expressions at the exposure



time of 4 h. The expression of p21 is regulated by p53 <sup>32</sup>, so it is not surprising that both proteins were not affected.

### 3.4.6 Bovine milk exosomes affect the cell cycle of RAW 264.7 cells under

#### hypoxia

The cell cycle of RAW 264.7 cells under hypoxia and the effect of bovine milk exosomes on the cell cycle can be seen in Fig 3.6. Our results showed that exposing RAW 264.7 cells to hypoxia caused cell arrest in the G0/G1 phase of the cell cycle when compared to the cell under normoxia. The percent number of cells in G0/G1 phase significantly decreased from 61.3% in untreated cells under hypoxia to 56.7% and 56.9% in the cell treated with 100 µg/mL and 200 µg/mL exosomes, respectively. There was no significant difference (p< 0.05) between untreated cells under normoxia and the cells treated with exosomes under hypoxia suggesting that bovine exosomes treatment is capable of reversing the effect of hypoxia on cell cycle of RAW 264.7 cell. The number of cells in pre-apoptotic phase did not significantly differ between different treatments. A significant reduction of cells in the S phase can be seen in untreated cells exposed to the hypoxic condition when compared to the cells exposed to normoxic conditions. Moreover, when the cells were treated with 100  $\mu$ g/mL and 200  $\mu$ g/mL exosomes, the percent of untreated cells under hypoxia in S phase increased from 10.9% to 15.5% and 16.9%, respectively, which was not statistically different from the number of untreated cells under normoxia in S phase. It is well documented that exposing the cells to a low oxygen environment affects the cell cycle progression. Not many studies have been done on the effect of hypoxia on RAW 264.7 cell. One of the previously published



articles found that exposing RAW 264.7 cells to hypoxia increased the number of apoptotic cells in 24 h <sup>33</sup>. While our study did not find any difference in the number of apoptotic cells, the arrest in G0/G1 and reduction of cells in S phase was consistent with the current literature <sup>34</sup>. To our knowledge, this is the first study that investigates the effect of bovine milk exosomes on the cell cycle progression in RAW 264.7 cells under hypoxia. Clearly, bovine milk exosomes were able to reverse the effect of hypoxia on the cell cycle of RAW 264.7 cells.

#### 3.5 Conclusion

Our study found that bovine milk exosomes are present in commercially available bovine milk suggesting that the pasteurization process does not destroy them. Their bioactivity was investigated in RAW 264.7 cells subjected to hypoxia, and we found that bovine milk exosomes can reverse adverse effects caused in a case of low oxygen supply which can be seen in damaged or inflamed tissue. Further investigation on a deeper understanding by which mechanism bovine milk exosomes reverse the effect of hypoxia in immune cells is needed.



#### References

- Zheng L, Kelly CJ, Colgan SP. Physiologic hypoxia and oxygen homeostasis in the healthy intestine . A Review in the Theme : Cellular Responses to Hypoxia. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*. 2015;309:350-360. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00191.2015
- Murdoch C, Muthana M, Lewis CE. Hypoxia Regulates Macrophage Functions in Inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2019;175:6257-6263. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.10.6257
- Zhao Y, Zou W, Du J, Zhao Y. The origins and homeostasis of monocytes and tissue-resident macrophages in physiological situation. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*. 2018;233:6425–6439. doi:10.1002/jcp.26461
- Davies LC, Jenkins SJ, Allen JE, Taylor PR. Tissue-resident macrophages. Nature Immunology. 2013;14(10):986. doi:10.1038/ni.2705
- Krzywinska E, Stockmann C. Hypoxia , Metabolism and Immune Cell Function.
   *Biomedicines*. 2018;6:56. doi:10.3390/biomedicines6020056
- Greijer AE, Wall E Van Der. The role of hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) in hypoxia induced apoptosis. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*. 2004;57:1009-1014. doi:10.1136/jcp.2003.015032
- Wiese M, Gerlach RG, Popp I, Matuszak J, Mahapatro M, Castiglione K. Hypoxia-Mediated Impairment of the Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain Inhibits the Bactericidal Activity of Macrophages. *Infection and Imunity*. 2012;80:1455-1466. doi:10.1128/IAI.05972-11
- 8. Niel G Van, Angelo GD, Raposo G. Shedding light on the cell biology of



extracellular vesicles. *Nature Reviews*. 2018;19:213-228. doi:10.1038/nrm.2017.125

- Vlassov A V, Magdaleno S, Setterquist R, Conrad R. Exosomes : Current knowledge of their composition , biological functions , and diagnostic and therapeutic potentials. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 2012;1820(7):940-948. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.03.017
- Pieters BCH, Arntz OJ, Bennink MB, Broeren MGA, Arjan P. Commercial Cow Milk Contains Physically Stable Extracellular Vesicles Expressing Immunoregulatory TGF- β. *PLOS One*. 2015;10(3):1-14. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0121123
- Mu J, Zhuang X, Wang Q, et al. Interspecies communication between plant and mouse gut host cells through edible plant derived exosome-like nanoparticles. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*. 2014;58(7):1561-1573. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201300729
- 12. Conditions T, Benmoussa A, Lee CHC, et al. Commercial Dairy Cow Milk microRNAs Resist Digestion under Simulated Gastrointestinal. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 2016;146:2206-2215. doi:10.3945/jn.116.237651.interspecies
- Izumi H, Tsuda M, Sato Y, Kosaka N, Ochiya T, Iwamoto H. Bovine milk exosomes contain microRNA and mRNA and are taken up by human macrophages. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 2015;98:2920-2933. doi:10.3168/jds.2014-9076
- 14. Id BL, Hock A, Wu RY, et al. Bovine milk-derived exosomes enhance goblet cell activity and prevent the development of experimental necrotizing enterocolitis.



*PloS One*. 2019;14:e0211431.

- Gao HN, Guo HY, Zhang H, Xie XL, Wen PC, Ren FZ. Yak-milk-derived exosomes promote proliferation of intestinal epithelial cells in an hypoxic environment. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 2019;102(2):985-996. doi:10.3168/jds.2018-14946
- 16. Munagala R, Aqil F, Jeyabalan J, Gupta RC. Bovine milk-derived exosomes for drug delivery. *Cancer Letters*. 2016;371:48-61. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.020
- Distelhorst CW. Apoptosis. *Methods in Molecular Biology*. 2009;559:433-454.
   doi:10.1201/9781420038231
- Samuel M, Chisanga D, Liem M, et al. Bovine milk-derived exosomes from colostrum are enriched with proteins implicated in immune response and growth. *Scientific Reports*. 2017;7(June):5933. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-06288-8
- Editor D. Effect of pH , temperature and freezing-thawing on quantity changes and cellular uptake of exosomes. *Protein and Cell*. 2018:1-5. doi:10.1007/s13238-018-0529-4
- 20. Lee M, Ban J-J, Wooseok Im, Kim M. Influence of storage condition on exosome recovery. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*. 2016;21:299-304.
- Romo MR. Innate immunity in vertebrates : an overview. *Immunology*.
   2016;148:125-139. doi:10.1111/imm.12597
- Lewis JS, Lee JA, Underwood JCE, Harris AL, Lewis CE. Macrophage responses to hypoxia : relevance to disease mechanisms. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 1999;66:889-900. doi:10.1002/jlb.66.6.889
- 23. Clanton TL. Hypoxia-induced reactive oxygen species formation in skeletal



muscle. Journal of Applied Physiology. 2007;102:2379-2388. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01298.2006.

- Lee JH, Kim K, Jo YH, Hwang E, Chung J, Yang C. Reoxygenation speed and its implication for cellular injury responses in hypoxic RAW 264.7 cells. *Journal of Surgical Research*. 2017;227:88-94. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2017.11.005
- Srinivasan S, Avadhani NG. Hypoxia-Mediated Mitochondrial Stress in RAW264.7 Cells Induced Osteoclast-Like TRAP-Positive Cells. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 2007;1117:51-61. doi:10.1196/annals.1402.067.Hypoxia-Mediated
- Dawson TL, Gores GJ, Herman B, et al. Mitochondria as a source of reactive oxygen species during reductive stress in rat hepatocytes. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*. 1993;264:C961-C967.
- Panieri E, Santoro MM. ROS homeostasis and metabolism : a dangerous liason in cancer cells. *Cell Death and Disease*. 2016;7(6):e2253. doi:10.1038/cddis.2016.105
- Xiong M, Elson G, Legarda D, Leibovich SJ. Production of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor by Murine Macrophages. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 1998;153(2):587-598. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65601-5
- Pfeffer K. Biological functions of tumor necrosis factor cytokines and their receptors. *Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews*. 2003;14:185-191. doi:10.1016/S1359-6101(03)00022-4
- 30. Kato K, Nakane A, Minagawa T, et al. Human tumor necrosis factor increases the resistance against Listeria infection in mice. *Medical Microbiology and*



Immunology. 1989;178:337-346.

- 31. Uchida T, Rossignol F, Matthay MA, et al. Prolonged Hypoxia Differentially Regulates Hypoxia-inducible Factor (HIF)-1α and HIF-2α Expression in Lung Epithelial Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2004;279(15):14871-14878. doi:10.1074/jbc.M400461200
- Elbendary AA, Cirisano FD, Evans AC, et al. Relationship between p21 expression and utation of the p53 tumor suppressor gene in normal and malignant ovarian epithelian cells. *Clinical Cancer Research*. 1996;2:1571-1575.
- 33. Apetina EDGL. Inflammatory mediators are perpetuated in macrophages resistant to apoptosis induced by hypoxia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1997;94:13903-13908.
- Fong C, Zhang Q, Shi Y, Wu RSS, Fong W, Yang M. Effect of hypoxia on RAW264 . 7 macrophages apoptosis and signaling. *Toxicology*. 2007;235:52-61. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2007.03.006



### Appendix



Figure 3.1. Particle size (A) and zeta potential (B) of bovine milk exosomes.



Figure 3.2. Exosomal markers ALIX, TSG101 and CD81.





Figure 3.3. Proliferation of RAW 264.7 cell treated with bovine milk exosomes under hypoxia. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p<0.05).



Figure 3.4. Relative production of reactive oxygen production (ROS) in RAW 264.7 cell treated with bovine milk exosomes under hypoxia. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p<0.05).





Figure 3.5. TNF- $\alpha$  production in RAW 264.7 cells treated with bovine milk exosomes. Results are presented as mean ± SD. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p<0.05).



Figure 3.6. Effect of milk exosomes on RAW 264.7 expression of hypoxia protein HIF-1 $\alpha$  and proliferation proteins p53 and p21. Results are presented as mean ± SE. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p<0.05).





Figure 3.7. The effect of hypoxia and bovine milk treatment on the cell cycle of RAW 264.7 cells. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p<0.05).



#### **CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK**

It has been well-documented that the consumption of bovine milk has multiple benefits on human health. Recently, the discovery of exosomes and their presence in bovine milk contributed to a better understanding of how milk affects human health. Our study found that exosomes are present in commercially available milk suggesting that pasteurization temperatures do not destroy their integrity. The presence of exosomes after pasteurization process suggests that consuming heat-treated may not affect their biological activity but also this may be important for the potential application in the food industry. Also, our results supported the previously published findings that bovine milk exosomes are stable and can resist *in vitro* digestion suggesting that bovine milk exosomes may reach small intestines and therefore be absorbed in an intact form. Bovine milk exosomes increased the proliferation and protect RAW 264.7 cells from cisplatin-induced apoptosis in normoxia. Moreover, bovine milk exosome treatment significantly increased cells proliferation and had an immunomodulatory effect under hypoxia. Our results suggest that bovine milk exosomes could have a beneficial effect on human health so further research is needed to understand their biological activity. Bovine milk exosomes have not been extensively studied so there is still a lot unknown about the topic. Clearly, for any further research, isolation of bovine milk exosomes needs to be improved. Our study demonstrated that differential centrifugation along with filtration was not enough to remove all residual milk proteins. Application of pH or enzymes could be used to remove residual proteins before subjecting it to differential ultracentrifugation.



As a bioactive milk component, the stability of milk exosomes over time, and how the storage time affects their bioactivity and uptake should be investigated. To our knowledge, no study has been published on the effect of storage condition and time on the stability of bovine milk exosomes. Also, we demonstrated that bovine milk exosomes resisted *in vitro* digestion so the next step would be to investigate their uptake and internalization *in vivo* using animal models.



#### VITA

Svjetlana Matic was born and raised in Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina. She came to the United States in 2010. Sara, her daughter was born in 2011. In 2015, she enrolled at the Food Science and Technology program at the University of Tennessee.
In 2017, she received her Bachelor of Science degree in Food Science. In January 2018, she started the graduate school in Food Science at The University of Tennessee where she studied food chemistry. After receiving her MS degree, she plans to work in the food industry.

